Cardiac electrophysiological studies on the antiarrhythmic and hidden cardiotoxic effects of different compounds

Ph.D. Thesis

Richárd Sándor Varga, M.Sc.

Szeged

2022.

Cardiac electrophysiological studies on the antiarrhythmic and hidden cardiotoxic effects of different compounds

Ph.D. Thesis

Richárd Sándor Varga, M.Sc.



Szeged, 2022.

Supervisor:

István Baczkó M.D., Ph.D.

Department of Pharmacology and Pharmacotherapy

Albert Szent-Györgyi School of Medicine, University of Szeged

PUBLICATIONS RELATED TO THE SUBJECT OF THE THESIS

Varga RS, Hornyik T, Husti Z, Kohajda Zs, Krajsovszky G, Nagy N, Jost N, Virág L, Tálosi L, Mátyus P, Varró A, Baczkó I. Antiarrhythmic and cardiac electrophysiological effects of SZV-270, a novel compound with combined Class I/B and Class III effects, in rabbits and dogs. Canadian Journal of Physiology and Pharmacology, 2021, 99(1): 89-101. doi: 10.1139/cjpp-2020-0412; PMID: 32970956.

IF (2020) = 2.273; Q3 (Pharmacology - 168/769)

Brenner GB, Makkos A, CsT, Onódi Zs, Sayour NV, Gergely TG, Kiss B, Görbe A, Sághy É, Zádori ZS, Lázár B, Baranyai T, Varga RS, Husti Z, Varró A, Tóthfalusi L, Schulz R, Baczkó I, Giricz Z, Ferdinandy P. Hidden Cardiotoxicity of Rofecoxib Can be Revealed in Experimental Models of Ischemia/Reperfusion. Cells. 2020. 26;9(3):551. doi: 10.3390/cells9030551. PMID: 32111102.

IF (2020) = 6.6; Q1 (Medicine(Miscellaneous))

Cumulative impact factor of papers related to the subject of the thesis: 8.873

OTHER PAPERS NOT RELATED TO THE THESIS

Kohajda Zs, Virág L, Hornyik T, Husti Z, Sztojkov-Ivanov A, Nagy N, Horváth A, Varga R, Prorok J, Szlovák J, Tóth N, Gazdag P, Topal L, Naveed M, Árpádffy-Lovas T, Pászti B, Magyar T, Koncz I, Déri Sz, Demeter-Haludka V, Aigner Z, Ördög B, Patfalusi M, Tálosi L, Tiszlavicz L, Földesi I, Jost N, Baczkó I*, Varró A*. In vivo and cellular antiarrhythmic and cardiac electrophysiological effects of desethylamiodarone in dog cardiac preparations. British Journal of Pharmacology, 2022, published online: Feb 1. doi: 10.1111/bph.15812.

IF (2020) = 8.739; D1 (Pharmacology, Toxicology and Pharmaceutics - 18/772)

Hézső T, Khan MN, Dienes Cs, Kiss D, Prorok J, Árpádffy-Lovas T, Varga R, Fujii E, Mercan T, Topal L, Kistamás K, Szentandrássy N, Almássy J, Jost N, Magyar J, Bányász T, Baczkó I, Varró A, Nánási PP, Virág L, Horváth B. Mexiletine-like cellular electrophysiological effects of GS9667 in canine ventricular myocardium. Scientific Reports, 2021, 11: Article 9565. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-88903-3. PMID: 33953276.

IF (2020) = 4.379; D1 (Multidisciplinary – 9/145)

Horváth B, Hézső T, Szentandrássy N, Kistamás K, Árpádffy- Lovas T, Varga R, Gazdag, P, Veress R, Dienes Cs, Baranyai, D, Almássy J, Virág L, Nagy N, Baczkó I, Magyar J, Bányász T, Varró A, Nánási PP. Late sodium current in human, canine and guinea pig ventricular myocardium. Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology, 2020, 139: 14-23.

IF (2020) = 5.0; Q1 (Cardiology and Cardiovascular Medicine – 49/317)

Kohajda Z, Farkas-Morvay N, Jost N, Nagy N, Geramipour A, Horvath A, Varga R, Hornyik T, Corici C, Acsai K, Horvath B, Prorok J, Ordog B, Déri Sz, Toth D, Levijoki J, Pollesello P, Koskelainen T, Otsomaa L, Toth A, Baczko I, Lepran I, Nanasi PP, Papp JG, Varro A, Virag L. The Effect of a Novel Highly Selective Inhibitor of the Sodium/Calcium Exchanger (NCX) on Cardiac Arrhythmias in In Vitro and In Vivo Experiments. PLoS ONE, 2016 11 (11) e0166041.

IF (2016) = 2.806; Q1 (Multidisciplinary – 10/111)



TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS
SUMMARY OF THE THESIS
1. INTRODUCTION
1.1. The cardiac action potential10
1.2 Antiarrhythmic drugs12
1.2.1. Class I antiarrhythmic drugs14
1.2.2. Class II antiarrhythmic drugs17
1.2.3. Class III antiarrhythmic drugs18
1.2.4. Class IV antiarrhythmic drugs20
1.2.5. Class V antiarrhythmic drugs21
1.3. SZV-270: a novel compound with combined Class I/B and Class III antiarrhythmic
effects
1.4. The concept of "hidden cardiotoxicity"23
2. AIMS OF THE STUDY
2.1. Aim 1: Investigation of the cardiac electrophysiological effects of SZV-27027
2.2. Aim 2: Investigation of the possible hidden cardiotoxicity of rofecoxib27
3. MATERIALS AND METHODS
3.1. Ethical issues
3.2. Cardiac electrophysiological studies with SZV-270
3.2.1. Atrial fibrillation following chronic atrial tachypacing in conscious dogs
3.2.2. Action potential (AP) recordings with the conventional microelectrode technique29
3.2.2.1. AP measurements from canine atrial trabeculae
3.2.2.2. AP measurements from canine and rabbit right ventricular papillary muscles and in
canine Purkinje fibers
3.2.3. Whole cell patch-clamp studies
3.2.4. Statistical analysis
3.3. Cardiac electrophysiological studies with rofecoxib
3.3.1. In vitro simulated ischemia/reperfusion injury study
3.3.2. Evaluation of action potential parameters
3.3.3. Statistical analysis
4. RESULTS
4.1. Antiarrhythmic and cardiac electrophysiological effects of SZV-27035

4.1.1. Effects of SZV-270 and dofetilide on burst-induced atrial fibrillation in conscious dogs35
4.1.2. Effects of SZV-270 on action potentials in rabbit and canine right ventricular papillary
muscles
4.1.3. Effects of SZV-270 on action potentials in canine Purkinje fibers
4.1.4. Effects of SZV-270 on action potentials in canine atrial trabeculae
4.1.5. Effects of SZV-270 on various transmembrane ionic currents in isolated rabbit
ventricular myocytes43
4.2. Effects of rofecoxib on action potential in rat isolated papillary muscles46
5. DISCUSSION
5.1 SZV-270 has combined Class I/B and Class III effects
5.2 Ischaemic preconditioning prevents the hidden electrophysiological cardiotoxic effects of
rofecoxib
6. CONCLUSIONS AND NOVEL FINDINGS
7. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
8. REFERENCES

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AERP	atrial effective refractory period
AF	atrial fibrillation
APA	action potential amplitude
APD ₁₀	action potential duration at 10% of repolarization
APD ₂₅	action potential duration at 25% of repolarization
APD ₅₀	action potential duration at 50% of repolarization
APD ₇₅	action potential duration at 75% of repolarization
APD ₉₀	action potential duration at 90% of repolarization
СТ	conduction time
EAD	early afterdepolarization
ERP	effective refractory period
I _{Ca}	voltage-dependent calcium current
I _{K1}	inward rectifier potassium current
I _{Kr}	rapidly activating delayed rectifier potassium current
I _{Ks}	slowly activating delayed rectifier potassium current
I/R	ischemia/reperfusion
Ito	transient outward potassium current
QTc	frequency corrected QT interval
RMP	resting membrane potential
sIPC	simulated ischemic preconditioning
sI/R	simulated ischemia/reperfusion
TdP	Torsades de Pointes polymorphic ventricular tachycardia
SEM	standard error of the mean
VF	ventricular fibrillation
V _{max}	maximum rate of depolarization

SUMMARY OF THE THESIS

Background and aims of the study:

Following the disappointing results of the CAST and SWORD clinical trials showing that Class I/C and pure Class III antiarrhythmic drugs increased mortality in patients with myocardial infarction and reduced left ventricular function, the strategies for development of new antiarrhythmics changed fundamentally. Instead of developing 'pure' channel blockers, novel approaches have aimed at synthesizing agents with combined Class I/B and III antiarrhythmic characteristics, as such 'multichannel-blocking' properties had been considered to possess a safer proarrhythmic and cardiac electrophysiological effects of SZV-270, a novel agent that was synthesized by our collaborators from two well known pure Class I/B and III antiarrhythmic agents, mexiletin and D-Sotalol, respectively.

For the pharmaceutical industry, development of novel preclinical screening methods enabling more reliable prediction of the proarrhythmic potential / cardiotoxicity of novel drug candidates is also crucial. Unexpected clinical cardiotoxicity is still the leading cause of discontinuation of clinical trials and the withdrawal of drugs from the market despite great efforts to detect cardiotoxicity in the preclinical phase of drug development programs. Such cardiotoxic effects remain undetected during preclinical and early clinical safety studies and they may manifest in the presence of cardiac diseases e.g., in myocardial ischaemia/reperfusion conditions; therefore, this phenomenon was termed "hidden cardiotoxicity". Little is known about the mechanism behind of this phenomenon, moreover, hidden cardiotoxicity cannot be revealed by the routinely used preclinical studies on healthy animals or tissues. Therefore, the second main aim of this study was to characterize a preclinical model for assessing the possible hidden cardiotoxic effects of different drugs. For this aim, we used rofecoxib, a compound withdrawn from the market because of its cardiovascular side effects.

Main findings:

SZV-270 exerted Class III antiarrhythmic effects by prolonging repolarization and the effective refractory period in dog and rabbit multicellular preparations, in a concentration dependent manner. In the higher applied concentration, SZV-270 exerted Class I/B antiarrhythmic effect in both species: it significantly decreased V_{max} at cycle lengths shorter than 1000 ms. In Purkinje fibers, at 2 Hz stimulation frequency the compound significantly lenghtened repolarization, however, this prolongation was smaller after the application of the

larger concentration than that was seen following the application of the smaller concentration. The larger concentration decreased APD₅₀ significantly. SZV-270 reduced V_{max} significantly in a concentration dependent manner. SZV-270 significantly lengthened atrial action potentials in a concentration dependent manner, and markedly increased atrial effective refractory period and significantly reduced the incidence of atrial fibrillation in conscious dogs. SZV-270 blocked I_{Kr} significantly in relatively low, 100 and 500 nM concentrations. This result is consistent with the APD lengthening and frequency corrected QT interval (QTc) prolonging effect of the drug. SZV-270 had no effects on the other transmembrane currents.

Rofecoxib treatment did not alter any of the observed electrophysiological parameters in normoxic conditions. After 30 min of simulated ischemia, APD₉₀ was shortened significantly in all groups compared to the respective normoxic groups. Importantly, in the presence of sI/R rofecoxib increased APD₉₀ in a concentration-dependent manner after reperfusion following the 30 min. simulated ischemia. In the sIPC group, these effects of rofecoxib on repolarization were not observed during reperfusion. 30 min. of simulated ischemia caused an increase of CT in all groups, while V_{max} was decreased significantly in the rofecoxib treated groups, possibly indicating reduced sodium channel function after rofecoxib administration in only ischemic conditions.

Conclusions:

SZV-270 significantly reduced the incidence of atrial fibrillation and prolonged atrial effective refractory period in a conscious dog model of atrial fibrillation. Our cellular electrophysiological investigations revealed that SZV-270 exerted its antiarrhythmic effects via combined Class I/B and Class III actions.

We demonstrated, that the hidden cardiotoxicity of rofecoxib can be revealed by preclinical cardiotoxicity testing while using experimental I/R models. Moreover, IPC might protect against the hidden cardiotoxic effects of rofecoxib in vitro. These results show that cardiac safety testing with simple preclinical models of I/R injury uncovers the hidden cardiotoxicity of rofecoxib and might reveal hidden cardiotoxicity of other drugs

1. INTRODUCTION

Cardiovascular diseases remain the leading causes of mortality in the developed world. Approximately 18 million lives are lost annually due to sudden cardiac death, most commonly caused by severe ventricular arrhythmias degenerating into ventricular fibrillation (VF) (Shomanova *et al.*, 2020). Atrial fibrillation (AF), the most prevalent sustained cardiac arrhythmia (Kannel *et al.*, 1982; Andrade *et al.*, 2014), is also associated with significant morbidity and mortality, leading to stroke (Lip *et al.*, 2011) and heart failure (Larned and Laskar, 2009).

Unfortunately, the therapy of VF and/or AF can't be considered as optimal in terms of the following two major clinical aspects: i) pharmacological therapy has limited efficacy (Andrade *et al.*, 2014) and ii) antiarrhythmic drugs can exhibit marked proarrhythmic potential due to their cardiac ventricular electrophysiological adverse effects (Fenichel et al., 2004). Therefore, there is an unmet need for novel, more effective and safer antiarrhythmic drugs. Importantly, this goal can only be achieved if novel, more reliable drug safety screening methods are developed which would allow more reliable prediction of potential cardiac side effects (cardiotoxicity) – such as proarrhythmia - of novel drug candidates. To better understand the limitations of the currently used antiarrhythmic drugs, a brief overview of the basics of cardiac cellular electrophysiology and the classification of the antiarrhythmias is provided in the following subchapters. Also, a short introduction of current limitations on cardiotoxicity assessment will be given.

1.1 The cardiac action potential

The cardiac action potential is a transmembrane potential change, with an amplitude ranging between 60 to 120 mV caused by ions flowing through transmembrane ion channels, via their dynamic and simultaneous opening and closing (Banyasz *et al.*, 2012, 2011). It starts from a negative value, i.e. the resting membrane potential (RMP) in working myocardial cells, or maximal diastolic potential in spontaneously depolarizing cells (Hoffman and Cranefield, 1960), ranging from -95 to -40 mV. Similar to other excitable cells, the RMP is primarily generated by the inwardly rectifying K⁺ currents and can be predicted by the Nernst equation from the uneven distribution of mainly K⁺ ions across the cell membrane. The electrogenic ATP dependent Na⁺ /K⁺ pump also contributes to the RMP, by exporting 3 Na⁺ and importing 2K⁺ (Gadsby, 1985; Gao *et al.*, 2005; Attwel *et al.*, 1981; Lee, 1996). In normal circumstances, the effective refractory period (ERP) - defined as the shortest time interval

needed before a new stimulus (or an early extrasystole) can create a new action potential - is determined by the action potential duration. The relation between APD and ERP is disrupted in pathological circumstances, for example, in hyperkalemia, leading to post-repolarization refractoriness (Shaw and Rudy, 1997). In the context of the cardiac action potential, two aspects should be highlighted. The cardiac action potential is not uniform, it has a different configuration in different regions of the heart, and therefore various action potentials should be considered and discussed separately. There are significant differences between species (Clauss *et al.*, 2019), even when action potentials are measured from similar regions of the heart.

The cardiac action potential is divided into five phases (Figure 1). In phase 0, cardiomyocytes are depolarized by a rapid inflow of Na⁺ ions generating a significant and fast inward Na^+ current (I_{Na}). This current determines also the velocity of impulse propagation through the His-Purkinje system, working atrial and ventricular myocytes ("fast response" action potentials). In sino-atrial and atrioventricular node primarily the Ca^{2+} current (I_{Ca}) is responsible for depolarization ("slow response" action potentials). Phase 1 is the initial part of repolarization, primarily governed by the transient outward current (I_{to}). In phase 2, (plateau phase), the late component of the inward sodium current (I_{Na,Late}) opposes the outward repolarizing currents i.e. the slow and rapid components of the delayed rectifier K⁺ current $(I_{Ks} \text{ and } I_{Kr})$ and the inward rectifier K^+ current (I_{K1}) . Phase 3 is the terminal phase of repolarization, which differs from phase 2 for its faster repolarization rate, the outward progressively overcome the inward currents, enabling fast repolarization of the action potential. The loss of one repolarizing current may not lead to excessive AP lengthening, since other unimpaired K^+ currents may provide sufficient repolarizing capacity (Roden, 1998; Varro et al., 2000; Biliczki et al., 2002; Jost et al., 2005; Banyasz et al., 2007), i.e. there is a redundancy of the repolarization ("repolarization reserve"). The key players of the reserve are IKr, IKs, IK1, and possibly Ito (Varro et al., 2000; Biliczki et al., 2002; Jost et al., 2005; Banyasz et al., 2007). Phase 4 describes membrane potential during diastole. Timeindependent (or background) currents may also contribute to the whole action potential course i.e. the Na^+/K^+ pump current (I_{NaK}), the Na^+/Ca^{2+} exchanger (I_{NCX}) and the ATP-sensitive poatssium current ($I_{K,ATP}$). In the sino-atrial node heart rate is regulated by spontaneous electrical pacemaker activity primarily controlled by the If current (DiFrancesco, 1995). This current determines the slope of diastolic depolarization and cardiac frequency, and its inhibition leads to the reduction of heart rate. The "funny" (If) current was named because its strange characteristics, including that of being an inward current that is activated on hyperpolarization and not on depolarization like other known currents.



Figure 1. Phases of atrial and ventricular action potentials and underlying ionic currents. The numbers refer to the phases of the action potential. In each current profile the horizontal line represents the zero current level; inward currents are below the line and outward currents are above it (Jost, 2009).

1.2. Antiarrhythmic drugs

Antiarrhythmic agents were originally classified by the Vaughan-Williams classification (**Table 1**) based on their dominant electrophysiological effect (Singh and Williams, 1999; Singh, 1972; Nattel and Singh, 1999) (**Figure 2.**).



Figure 2. Schematic illustration of the main mechanisms of action of antiarrhythmic drugs according to the Vaughan-Williams classification

In time, a growing body of evidence confirmed that most antiarrhythmic drugs act on multiple ion-channels and/or receptors, therefore, it became obvious that the Vaughan-Williams classification is oversimplified and needed major revision. The revised version of this classification that was proposed on a meeting held in Sicily has become known as the 'Sicilian gambit'. This classification uses the former Vaughan-Williams classification as a frame to divide drugs into main groups based on their main electrophysiological effects, but it also provides further subclassifications of the agents based on their exact mode of action on different ion channels, transmembrane pumps and receptors which may have important clinical relevances (Table 1). A brief summary of the Vaughan-Williams Classes with extra attention given to the 'Sicilian gambit' approach is provided in the following subchapters.

ANTIARRHYTHMIC DRUG ACTIONS

Vaughn-	22112	ECG CH		CHANNELS		RECEPTORS			Clinical Effects				
Williams Class	DRUG	Changes	Ca ⁺⁺	Na	K⁺	α	β	ACh	Ado	Pro- Anthy	Extra Cardiac	LV FX	Heart Rate
A	Quinidine Procainamide Disopyramide (Norpace)	A		888	999	©		8		₿₿₿	333	11	
в{	Lidocaine (Xylocaine) Mexiletine (Mexitil)	B		0						0	8	1	
C{	Propafenone (Rythmol) Flecainide (Tambocor)	~~~ c		8			0			88	00	11 11	ļ
	β-Adrenergic antagonists						Ð	1	1	C	0	ţ	11
Ш	Dronedarone (Multaq) Amiodarone (Cordarone) Sotalol (Betapace) Ibutilide (Corvert) Dofetilide (Tikosyn)	~	00			33	8 8 B	88			99939	1	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
IV	Verapamil (Calan, Isoptin) Diltiazem (Cardizem)	4	88				1	1		© ©	00	11 1	
Misc	Adenosine (Adenocard)	~							Δ	C	C		ţ

Table 1. A modification of the Sicilian gambit drug classification. Abbreviations: PR interval (red), QRS interval (yellow), and QT interval (blue). The target ion channels (calcium, sodium, and potassium) and receptors (α -adrenergic (α), β -adrenergic (β), cholinergic (ACh), and adenosinergic (Ado) for antiarrhythmic drugs are listed in columns with the relative potency for each agent indicated as the letters H, M, and L for "high," "medium," and "low." Clinical effects are listed next: proarrhythmic (ProArrhy), extracardiac adverse effects (Extra Card), inotropic (left ventricular function, LV FX), and chronotropic (Heart Rate). The direction of the arrows indicates the direction of effects; the number of arrows indicates the magnitude. ECG, electrocardiogram.

1.2.1. Class I antiarrhythmic drugs

These agents inhibit the fast Na⁺ channels responsible for the upstroke and rapid conduction of the cardiac action potential. On the ECG, this effect may be reflected as widening of the P wave, widening of the QRS complex, prolongation of the PR interval, or a combination. They are able not only to slow but to block intracardiac conduction and induce arrhythmias. This proarrhythmic adverse effect has become widely known, and has led to a

reduction in the usage of these compounds, especially in patients with structural heart disease. Class I antiarrhythmic agents usually cause post-repolarization refractoriness, when the refractory period extends well beyond phase 3, even after complete repolarization. Class I drugs are subdivided based on the dissociation kinetics on the Na⁺ channel, that determine the heart rates at which their electrophysiologic effects become manifest.

Class I/A drugs have intermediate dissociation kinetics, their conduction slowing effects may or may not be obvious on an ECG obtained during normal rhythm at normal rates. Class I/A drugs also block repolarizing K⁺ channels, prolonging the repolarization and refractory periods (the interval from the beginning of the AP until the fiber is able to conduct another AP). On the ECG, this effect is manifested as QT-interval prolongation even at normal rates. Quinidine - extracted from the cinchona plant - is used by the 1920s, as an antiarrhythmic compound to maintain sinus rhythm after the conversion from atrial fibrillation or flatter, and to prevent the recurrence of ventricular tachycardia or fibrillation (Bozic et al., 2018, Serdoz et al., 2019). Due to increased risk of ventricular arrhythmia and sudden death, as well as a number of other adverse effects and drug interactions, quinidine was withdrawn from use and became unavailable in many countries (Bozic et al., 2018). Procainamide is widely used alone or in combination with class I agents (eg, mexiletine) to prevent symptomatic nonsustained ventricular tachycardia or recurrent ventricular tachycardia. Procainamide is also used for short-term treatment of ventricular tachycardia and a variety of supraventricular tachycardias, primarily atrial fibrillation and flutter. A number of systemic side effects limit it's usefullness, mainly lupus-like syndrome, gastrointestinal disturbances, and autoimmune blood dyscrasias. (Ellenbogen et al, 1993). Disopyramide is an effective antiarrhythmic agent in the treatment of ventricular and supraventricular arrhythmias (Brogden and Todd, 1987), and used primarily to treat ventricular ectopic systoles (Taylor and Pappas, 1986).

Class I/B drugs exhibit fast dissociation kinetics. They express their electrophysiologic effects only at fast heart rates (use-dependent block), because Na⁺ channels spend more time in activated and inactivated states, and the diastolic time for recovery from drug-induced block is shortened. Class I/B drugs have stronger effect in ischaemic, depolarized cardiac tissues (voltage-dependent block), because membrane depolarization inactivates Na⁺ channels and slows recovery from block (Zipes and Jalife, 2014). Thus, an ECG recorded during normal rhythm at normal rates usually shows no signs of conduction slowing. Lidocaine is considered the drug of choice in the treatment of ventricular arrhythmias in the prehospital and early hospital phase of acute myocardial infarction (Zehender *et al.*, 1990). It has been

highly effective in terminating ventricular premature beats and ventricular tachycardia occurring during general surgery, during and after cardiac surgery, following acute myocardial infarction, and in the course of digitalis intoxication. It has also been suggested for the prevention and treatment of ventricular arrhythmias occurring during cardiac catheterization (Collinsworth et al., 1974). Intramuscular lidocaine for prevention of fatal arrhythmias in the pre-hospital phase of acute myocardial infarction was tested and recommended in two clinical trials. Results of both trials showed a beneficial prophylactic antifibrillatory effect of lidocaine in the pre-hospital phase of suspected acute myocardial infarction (Valentine et al.; 1974; Koster et al., 1985;). Lidocaine is used only by the intravenous route. Mexiletine has a similar chemical structure and antiarrhythmic activity to lidocaine, and effective in the treatment of ventricular extrasystole and tachycardia, following oral administration. Intravenous mexiletine and lidocaine can be effective in suppression and prevention of haemodynamically stable ventricular tachycardia as well as for prevention of recurrent ventricular fibrillation. In patients not responding to conventional beta-blocker therapy, mexiletine may be used as alternative treatments (Dan et al., 2018). Mexiletine is effective for shortening QTc interval in LQT3 syndrome. (Prior et al., 2015; Chorin et al., 2017). The drug suppresses ventricular ectopy in the acute phase of myocardial infarction, and effective for some patients in whom lidocaine has failed. Mexiletine has little effect on atrial refractory period, consistent with its lack of effect in atrial fibrillation or flutter. Adverse

reactions limit the use of mexiletine in approximately 20% of patients. Gastrointestinal and central nervous system side effects are the most common. (Woosley *et al.*, 1984; Fenster and Comess, 1986). Mexiletine and disopyramide should also be avoided in post-myocardial infarction patients (Dan et *al.*, 2018).

Class I/C drugs have slow dissociation kinetics, they express their electrophysiologic effects at all heart rates. Thus, an ECG recorded during normal rhythm at normal heart rates usually shows conduction slowing. Propafenone is an effective agent in the treatment of premature ventricular complexes, ventricular couplets and nonsustained ventricular tachycardia, and showed efficacy in the treatment of ventricular fibrillation and sustained ventricular tachycardia. Propafenone has marked efficacy in the treatment of Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome, and it can convert effectively the atrial fibrillation to sinus rhythm (Bryson *et al.*, 1993; Capucci and Boriani 1995). Propafenone is also effective in suppressing ventricular premature complexes and nonsustained ventricular tachycardias. However, because of potential proarrhythmic effects, propafenone does not seems to be a first choice as a prophylactic agent for malignant ventricular arrhythmias (Capucci and Boriani

1995). Flecainide is an effective agent for the pharmacological cardioversion of atrial fibrillation, cathecolaminergic polymorphic ventricular tachycardia, supraventricular tachyarrhythmias and ventricular pre-excitation (Paolini et al., 2019) Potential cardiac side effects of flecainide include proarrhythmia, negative inotropic effects and conduction abnormalities. The most common non-cardiac side effect is dizziness, followed by difficulty focusing and blurred vision (Tamargo et al., 2012). Encainide is an antiarrhythmic agent which has been used in the treatment of life-threatening ventricular arrhythmias, symptomatic ventricular arrhythmias and supraventricular arrhythmias (Brogden and Todd, 1987). The most common adverse effect are blurred vision, nausea, heart block, and proarrhythmic effects (Tordjman and Estes, 1987). Class I/B drugs and Class I/C drugs do not block K⁺channels directly. Class I drugs can be useful in supraventricular and ventricular tachyarrhythmias also, but they are not generally recommended for patients with structural heart disease. The Cardiac Arrhythmia Suppression Trial (CAST) showed that encainide and flecainide, two Class I/C Na⁺ channel blocker antiarrhythmic drugs, increased mortality rates compared to placebo due to proarrhythmic adverse effects in patients with decreased left ventricular function after myocardial infarction (The CAST Investigators, 1989). Therefore, in subsequent years following the publication of these results, the interest of drug development for treatment of ventricular tachycardia (VT) and atrial fibrillation (AF) has been shifted toward those compounds that prevent and terminate re-entry arrhythmias by prolonging the action potential duration.

1.2.2. Class II antiarrhythmic drugs

Class II drugs are β -adrenergic receptor blockers. They are used not only for the management of cardiac arrhythmias (Kühlkamp *et al.*, 2002), but also for hypertension, angina pectoris, congestive heart failure, essential tremor, glaucoma, migraine prophylaxis and myocardial infarction. As antiarrhythmic agents they suppress β -adrenergic signaling in the heart by competitively inhibiting agonist binding to β -adrenergic receptors. They differ from most other antiarrhythmic agents by not directly modifying ion channel function; rather, they prevent the arrhythmia-promoting effects of β -adrenergic stimulation. They are useful in preventing sudden death due to ventricular tachyarrhythmias associated with acute myocardial ischemia, congenital long QT syndrome, and congestive heart failure. β -blockers affect predominantly tissues with "slow response" action potentials (SA and AV nodes), where they decrease the rate of automaticity and slow conduction velocity. Thus, the heart rate is decreased and the PR interval is lengthened on the ECG. Class II drugs are used primarily to

treat supraventricular tachycardias (SVT), including sinus tachycardia, AV nodal reentry, atrial fibrillation, and atrial flutter. β -blockers are able to prevent atrial fibrillation effectively after coronary artery bypass surgery, and they can control the ventricular rate during atrial fibrillation (Kühlkamp et al. 2002) at rest and during excercise (Abrams et al., 1985; Atwood et al., 1987). These drugs are also used to treat VTs to raise the threshold for ventricular fibrillation (VF) and reduce the ventricular proarrhythmic adverse effects of β-adrenoceptor stimulation. Propranolol supresses ventricular tachycardia and ventricular ectopic depolarizations (Woosley et al., 1979) and terminate supraventricular tachyarrhythmias effectively, similar to esmolol, an ultra-short-acting β -adrenergic blocking agent (elimination half-life: 9 min). Esmolol effectively and rapidly controls the heart rate in patients with supraventricular tachyarrhythmias (equal to propranolol) and in patients with acute myocardial ischemia. Furthermore, because of its short half-life, esmolol offers excellent benefits in the treatment of critically ill patients. Esmolol is well tolerated by patients for whom beta blockers in general would be unsuitable. (Abrams et al., 1985; Sung et al., 1986). Metoprolol is effective and relatively safe for the prevention of postoperative atrial fibrillation in cardiac surgery patients (Norhayati et al., 2020).

1.2.3. Class III antiarrhythmic drugs

Class III antiarrhythmic agents prolong the cardiac action potential duration (APD) by blocking one or more potassium channels (Brendorp et al., 2001). A significant number of non-cardiac agents cause lengthening of APD in both ventricular muscle cells and Purkinje fibers through similar mode of action (Pinney et al., 1995; Gintant et al., 2001; Antzelevitch et al., 1996; Drici and Barhanin, 2000; Rampe and Murawsky, 1997). These drugs have effects also on tissues with slow and fast response action potentials. Because repolarization and refractoriness are prolonged, rate of automaticity is reduced. QT-interval prolongation is the dominant effect on the ECG. Class III drugs have been evaluated in different settings: primary and secondary prevention of ventricular arrhythmias, and in the treatment of atrial fibrillation or flutter, and they are effective in converting atrial fibrillation to sinus rhythm and for the maintenance of sinus rhythm after conversion (Brendorp et al., 2002; Weirich and Antoni, 1998). Class III drugs have a risk of proarrhythmic side effects, especially Torsades de Pointes ventricular tachycardia (Waldo et al., 1996; Brendorp et al., 2001; Hohnloser and Woosley 1994). The reason behind this is that these compounds have a reverse use-dependent effect on the action potential duration, lenghtening the repolarization more at slower heart rates, leading to early afterdepolarization (EAD). (Nair and Grant, 1997; Vos et al., 1995;

Hondeghem and Snyders, 1990). Data suggest that the combination of two factor induce Torsades de Pointes: (i) generation of EADs if repolarisation prolongs excessively, leading to EAD-induced triggered activity (Antzelevitch et al., 1994; Burashnikov et al., 1998; Carlsson et al., 1993; Viswanathan et al., 1999) and (ii) existing or induced repolarization heterogeneity throughout the myocardium. (Antzelevitch et al., 1996; Surawicz et al., 1989; Yan et al., 1989). EADs have been shown in vitro to manifest mainly in the Purkinje fibers and in the subendocardial/middle cell layer of the ventricle. Bradycardia, hypokalaemia, hypomagnesemia, ventricular hypertrophy, female gender, and repolarisation prolongation increase the risk of EADs (Elming et al., 2005). Repolarisation prolongation is affected variously throughout the myocardial layers. Animal (Antzelevitch et al, 1996; Yan et al., 1998; Roden et al., 1985) and human (Drouin et al., 1995) in vitro experiments have shown a more pronounced bradycardia-induced prolongation of APD in the Purkinje fibers and in the M-cells compared to other layers, with an even more pronounced prolongation in these cells in hypokalaemia and when exposed drugs prolonging repolarisation. Thus, the combination of EAD triggered activity in a substrate of cells in different states of repolarisation seems to increase the risk of re-entry arrhythmia (el Sherif et al., 1996). It wold be favourable to prevent these proarrhythmic side effects by using combination.

Amiodarone - originally developed as a vasodilator – is classified electrophysiologically as a Class III antiarrhythmic, it also has both nonspecific antisympathetic and direct, fast channelmembrane effects (Freedman and Somberg, 1991). Amiodarone markedly prolongs the action potential duration (and the QT interval on the ECG) by blockade of IKr. During chronic administration, I_{Ks} is also blocked. The action potential duration is prolonged uniformly over a wide range of heart rates; that is, the drug does not have reverse use-dependent action. In spite of its present classification as a class III agent, amiodarone also significantly blocks inactivated sodium channels. Its action potential prolonging action reinforces this effect. Amiodarone also has weak adrenergic and calcium channel-blocking actions. Consequences of these actions include slowing of the heart rate and AV node conduction (Sloskey, 1983; Zipes *et al.*, 1984). The drug suppresses recurrences of cardiac tachyarrhythmias in a high percent of patients, in the range of 80% or more for most supraventricular tachycardias and in about 66% of patients with ventricular tachyarrhythmias, sometimes requiring addition of a second antiarrhythmic agent. Amiodarone may prove beneficial in the primary prevention of atrial fibrillation, to convert fibrillation, to prevent recurrency, and finally, to reduce a fast ventricular rate that does not respond to standard therapy. Side effects, particularly when high doses are used, may limit amiodarone's usefulness and include skin, corneal, thyroid, pulmonary, neurologic, gastrointestinal and hepatic dysfunction. Aggravation of cardiac arrhythmias occurs but serious arrhythmias are caused in less than 5% of patients (Zipes *et al.*, 1984; Gjesdal, 2008; Jukić *et al.*, 2015). The most serious side effect of amiodarone is pulmonary fibrosis. Although the occurrence of this complication has decreased with the use of lower doses, it can occur with any dose (Wolkove and Baltzan, 2009).

The SWORD (Survival With Oral D-sotalol) trial was terminated by the Steering Committee because of an excess mortality among the patients randomized to d-sotalol. A total of 3121 patients had been randomized in the SWORD trial with a mean follow-up of 146 days. The Data and Safety Monitoring Board recommended early termination of SWORD because the boundary for harm had been crossed and statistical significance had been reached (p=0.006). There was an increased mortality among the 1549 patients receiving d-sotalol (78 deaths, 5.0%) compared to the 1571 receiving placebo (48 deaths, 3.0%). This difference was present across all subgroups, even though it was markedly more present in some compared to others. The conclusion of SWORD trial is that d-sotalol causes harm in patients with a prior myocardial infarction (Schwartz, 1995).

Dofetilide, like sotalol, is a methane sulfonanilide derivative (Larsen and Lish, 1964) and it has a significant blocking effect on the rapid component of the delayed rectifier potassium current (I_{Kr}). It also increases the activity of the late sodium current at lower concentration; therefore, it prolongs action potential duration (APD) in atrial, ventricular, and Purkinje cells. It also increases the atrial effective refractory period (ERP) more than the ventricular ERP (Mounsey and DiMarco, 2000; Grant, 2009). Thus, it is more effective in atrial arrhythmias that are due to re-entry than other mechanisms (Shenasa and Shenasa, 2016). It is important to note that dofetilide did not adversely affect mortality in high-risk patient group with recent myocardial infarction, chronic heart failure, and reduced ejection fraction. Furthermore, dofetilide did not pose any adverse effects on survival in patients with supraventricular arrhythmias (Pritchett and Wilkinson, 1999). An important concern on the use of dofetilide is its torsadogenic effects (Gordon, 1999).

1.2.4. Class IV antiarrhythmic drugs

Class IV compounds block the L-type Ca^{2+} channel, and depress Ca^{2+} -dependent APs in tissues with "slow response" action potentials and thus decrease the rate of automaticity, slow conduction velocity, and prolong refractory period. Heart rate is decreased, the PR interval is lengthened, and the AV node transmits rapid atrial depolarizations at a lower frequency. These agents are used mainly to treat supraventricular tachycardias or tachyarrhythmias. It consistently slows and regularises the ventricular response in atrial fibrillation, and usually increases the degree of AV-nodal block in atrial flutter though it occasionally induces a return to sinus rhythm. Given orally it is useful for the prophylaxis of atrioventricular reentry tachycardia, and also in modulating the atrioventricular nodal response in atrial fibrillation. Favourable response in ventricular tachycardia is exceptional and then seen in specific benign varieties. Verapamil is the agent of choice for the termination of paroxysmal supraventricular tachycardia (Krikler, 1986; Kuhn, 1981). Diltiazem has shown efficacy in the treatment of unstable angina, hypertension, and supraventricular tachycardias and to control the ventricular response to atrial fibrillation or flutter. Atrioventricular block although rare, is the most frequent serious adverse event related to diltiazem therapy and may be exacerbated by coadministration of beta-adrenoceptor antagonists, especially in the elderly (Markham and Brogden, 1993; Chaffman and Brogden, 1985).

1.2.5. Class V antiarrhythmic drugs

Class V drugs are specific bradycardic agents with sino-atrial pacemaker current (I_f) blocking property. I_f plays an important role in spontaneous diastolic depolarization (DiFrancesco, 1995). The current is conducted by hyperpolarization-activated cyclic nucleotide-gated (HCN) channels. Inhibition of the pacemaker current reduces the steepness of diastolic depolarization. Thus, heart rate is reduced and the RR interval is widened on the ECG. Ivabradine is a selective inhibitor of I_f current, which has been shown to effectively suppress inappropriate sinus tachycardia, junctional tachycardia, atrial tachycardia, and ventricular ectopy in humans (Kohli *et al.*, 2020). In isolated rabbit hearts, a significant suppression of atrial fibrillation was described by ivabradine (Frommeyer *et al.*, 2017). Furthermore, a significant slowing of atrioventricular conduction in the presence of atrial fibrillation was reported for ivabradine (Verrier *et al.*, 2014; Verrier *et al.*, 2015). Long-term reduction of heart-rate with ivabradine in patients with chronic coronary syndrome improved diastolic function and reduced mean aortic flow velocity (Hohneck et al., 2021). In heart failure, reduction of heart-rate with ivabradine is important for the improvement of clinical outcomes (Swedberg *et al.*, 2010).

1.3 SZV-270: a novel compound with combined Class I/B and Class III antiarrhythmic effects

Following the significant setbacks for pharmacological prevention of ventricular arrhythmias that were provided by the Cardiac Arrhythmia Suppression Trials (The Cardiac Arrhythmia Suppression Trial Investigators, 1989; The Cardiac Arrhythmia Suppression Trial II Investigators, 1992) and the Survival with Oral D-Sotalol trial (Waldo *et al.*, 1996), where sodium channel blocker Class I/C and potassium channel blocker Class III compounds - instead of improving clinical outcome - increased mortality in post-myocardial infarction patients with reduced ejection fraction, the attention shifted towards potential new antiarrhythmic drugs with more complex ion channel and receptor modulatory effects.

One promising approach to safer and more effective pharmacological arrhythmia management is the use novel compounds that exhibit more complex actions and modulate several ionic currents. Indeed, amiodarone, a compound affecting several ionic currents, remains one of the most effective antiarrhythmic drugs both for the management of AF and severe ventricular arrhythmias (Mujovic et al., 2020), however, especially during its chronic application, it exhibits severe extracardiac adverse effects (Hilleman et al., 1998; Mujović, 2020). Class III antiarrhythmic drugs prolong myocardial repolarization and can effectively reduce re-entry arrhythmias (Hashimoto et al., 1995; Hohnloser et al., 1995; Fei and Frame, 1996), however, they can also provoke Torsades de Pointes (TdP) tachycardia (Verduyn et al., 1997) and D-sotalol increased mortality in post-myocardial infarction patients (Waldo et al., 1996). Despite its significant QT prolonging effect, amiodarone has a relatively low torsadogenic adverse effect (Hohnloser et al., 1994; Belardinelli et al., 2003; Thomsen et al., 2004), possibly due to decreased transmural dispersion of repolarization and inhibition of early afterdepolarization (EAD) formation following amiodarone administration (Sicouri et al., 1997), similarly to Class I/B antiarrhythmic drugs (Shimizu and Antzelevitch, 1997; Assimes and Malcolm, 1998). Therefore, the development of novel compounds with complex actions exhibiting combined Class I/B and Class III effects and devoid of severe extracardiac adverse effects, that are effective against both supraventricular and ventricular arrhythmias, is justified.

In line with this concept, SZV-270 (**Figure 3**), a novel agent was synthesized by our collaborators from two well-known pure Class I/B and III antiarrhythmic agents, mexiletine and D-Sotalol, respectively. The lack of beta receptor antagonist activity of the compound has already been confirmed, but no other pharmacodynamic or pharmacokinetic characteristics have been investigated so far. In the first study described in this PhD thesis, we aimed to

characterize the cardiac electrophysiological properties of SZV-270 (**Figure 3**) in rabbit and canine atrial and ventricular preparations. Also, its effects on atrial fibrillation were tested in dogs with chronic atrial tachypacing-induced atrial remodelling. In case of favourable electrophysiological effects, the authors would recommend further studies aiming to fully characterise the compound in terms of its pharmacodynamic, pharmacokinetic and toxicological properties.



Figure 3. Chemical structure of SZV-270.

1.4 The concept of "hidden cardiotoxicity"

Unexpected clinical cardiotoxicity – often seen as proarrhythmia, a drug-induced '*de novo*' arrhythmia - is still the leading cause of discontinuation of clinical trials and the withdrawal of drugs from the market despite great efforts, such as the implementation of the ICH (International Council for Harmonisation of Technical Requirements for Registration of Pharmaceuticals for Human Use) guidelines (ICH-S7B and ICH-E14) that were proposed for rigorous safety testing to detect cardiovascular adverse effects in the preclinical phase of drug development programs (Madonna *et al.*, 2015).

Since cardiotoxicity often remains 'hidden' in normal/healthy individuals but manifests under cardiac diseased conditions – such as in myocardial ischaemia -, this phenomenon is termed as "hidden cardiotoxicity" (Ferdinandy *et al.*, 2019). Hidden cardiotoxicity often manifests as ischemia-related lethal myocardial injury and/or as I/R-induced arrhythmias and/or as cardiac dysfunction. Thus, drugs with hidden cardiotoxic properties may present a serious risk to patients as drugs with overt cardiotoxicity, such as certain cancer treatments (Yeh *et al.*, 2019). The mechanisms of hidden cardiotoxicity may include the activation of apoptosis, or pro-arrhythmic processes during cardiac I/R, as well as the inhibition of cardioprotective signaling pathways (e.g., ischemic conditioning-induced protection), either of which may be aggravated by the presence of cardiovascular comorbidities (Ferdinandy *et al.*, 2019) (**Figure 4**). Nearly 500 medicinal products were withdrawn from the market between 1953 and 2013 (Onakpoya *et al.*, 2016), the majority of which is related to cardiac adverse events (Madonna *et al.*, 2015). Moreover, an estimated

197,000 deaths are attributed to adverse drug reactions in the European Union each year (Pontes et al., 2014). Hidden cardiotoxicity remains undetected in the preclinical and early clinical phases of drug development, since the current guidelines only require the assessment of drug safety in healthy animals (International Conference on Harmonisation. Guidance on M3(R2), 2010; Guideline on Repeated Dose Toxicity Corr, 2019). In addition, preclinical and clinical cardiac electrophysiological safety test guidelines advocate the use of healthy animals, tissues, and healthy human volunteers for the assessment of the pro-arrhythmic adverse effects of compounds in development and these tests do not represent patients with increased arrhythmia susceptibility (International Conference on Harmonisation. Guidance on E14, 2005; International Conference on Harmonisation. Guidance on S7B, 2005). However, in clinical trials, cardiotoxic adverse events occur in an unpredictable manner, often in patients with cardiac diseases and/or with cardiovascular comorbidities, e.g., hyperlipidemia, hyperglycemia, hypertension, aging, or inflammatory diseases (Page et al., 2016, Chao et al,. 2013). Toxic effects of drugs can be 'hidden' when safety testing is only carried out in healthy heart or tissue, but may manifest in the diseased state ('hidden toxicity') (Ferdinandy et al., 2019). Indeed, the guidelines for the treatment of heart failure by the American College of Cardiology Foundation/American Heart Association recommend avoiding the use of certain medications in heart failure, e.g., cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) inhibitors, since they may exacerbate underlying myocardial dysfunction (Yancy et al., 2013).

Rofecoxib, which is a COX-2 inhibitor, was withdrawn from the market due to an increased risk of cardiovascular prothrombotic events being observed in the VIGOR and APPROVe trials (Bombardier *et al.*, 2000, Bresalier *et al.*, 2005). Later, in a meta-analysis that included 116,094 participants, it was shown that the use of rofecoxib was associated with an increased risk of arrhythmias (Zhang *et al.*, 2006). Several other mechanisms have been proposed for rofecoxib-induced cardiotoxicity, such as the inhibition of protection against I/R injury, prevention of production of epi-lipoxins, increase in blood pressure, and inhibition of vascular remodeling, however, none of those has been detected during preclinical safety assessment (Salinas *et al.*, 2007). The fact that the cardiotoxic effects of rofecoxib remained hidden in preclinical studies and was only revealed in phase 4 clinical studies and by a following metaanalysis and the enormous costs of long-term cardiovascular outcome trials required for toxicity studies. These models would ideally mimic diseased conditions - such as myocardial ischaemia reperfusion (I/R) - in which most of the drug-induced hidden cardiotoxicity manifests in clinical settings. The in vivo rat, guinea pig, rabbit or dog models

of myocardial I/R are typically carried out by reversibly obstructing and then restoring the blood flow in one of the main coronary arteries of the heart to induce temporal myocardial ischaemia and reperfusion (**Figure 5.**). This method is a gold standard technique to study the mechanisms of I/R-related myocardial injuries, and arrhythmias and to test drugs with potential myocardioprotective effects. The I/R model can also be used to study the mechanisms of highly effective cardioprotective mechanisms evoked by different so-called'conditioning' stimuli (**Figure 5.**). For more details about the myocardial I/R models, the mechanisms of I/R-induced myocardial injuries and arrhythmias and the possible cardioprotective effects of different conditioning methods, the author here would only like to refer to some excellent reviews in the field (e.g.: Theodore Kalogeris *et al.*, 2017; Sean M. Davidson *et al.*, 2019) due to the limitations of the current thesis work. Based on the above, in the second part of this thesis, we aimed to characterize a novel preclinical *in vitro* I/R model, we used rofecoxib, a compound withdrawn from the market because of its cardiovascular side effects (Bombardier *et al.*, 2000, Bresalier *et al.*, 2005).



Figure 4. Schematic illustration of the influence of cardioprotective factors (ischaemic conditioning, drugs), ischemia/reperfusion injury and cardiovascular risk factors on cardiotoxic effects of drugs. (original figure: Ferdinandy *et al.*, 2019).



Figure 5. A. Schematic illustration of a typical experimental protocol for *in vivo* experiments studying the effects of preconditioning on cardiac ischemia/reperfusion-induced injuries and/or arrhythmias. Abbreviations: SHAM: control animals undergoing the same procedure(s) as 'non-control' groups except specific interventions that are to be studied, IPC: ischaemic preconditioning, IR: ischemia/reperfusion. **B.** Schematic diagram illustrating the key temporal aspects of pre-, per-, and post-conditioning.

2. AIMS OF THE STUDIES

2.1 Aim 1: Investigation of the cardiac electrophysiological effects of SZV-270

To investigate the cardiac electrophysiological and antiarrhythmic effects of a new compound, SZV-270 on multicellular preparations, enzymatically isolated cardiomyocytes, and in conscious dogs with electrical atrial remodeling induced by atrial tachypacing.

2.2 Aim 2: Investigation of the possible hidden cardiotoxicity of rofecoxib

To test the hidden cardiotoxic properties of rofecoxib by using an *in vitro* preclinical model of ischaemia/reperfusion injury, and establish the basis of a new method for safety pharmacology.

3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Ethical issues

All animal care and the described experiments complied with the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals (U.S.A. NIH publication No 85-23, revised 1996) and conformed to the the Directive 2010/63/EU of the European Parliament. The experimental protocols had been approved by the Ethical Committee for the Protection of Animals in Research of the University of Szeged, Szeged, Hungary (I-74-18-2016; I-74-15/2017; I-74-24/2017); and also by the Department of Public Health and Food Chain Safety at the Csongrád County Government Office (XIII/4227/2016; XIII/3330/2017; XIII/3331/2017).

3.2 Cardiac electrophysiological studies with SZV-270

3.2.1 Atrial fibrillation following chronic atrial tachypacing in conscious dogs

Atrial fibrillation was induced in male Beagle dogs (n=6) weighing 12-15 kg as described previously (Baczkó *et al.*, 2014). In brief, two bipolar pacemaker electrodes (Synox SX 53-JBP and Synox SX 60/15-BP, Biotronik Hungary Ltd., Hungary) were implanted into the right atrial appendage and the apex of the right ventricle were connected to pacemakers (Logos DS and Philos S, Biotronik Hungary Ltd., Hungary) placed in subcutaneous pockets in the neck area. The implantation was followed by radiofrequency catheter ablation of the AV node. Following a 5-day recovery from surgery, right atrial tachypacing was started at 400 beats/min (ICS 3000 Programmer, Biotronik Hungary Ltd., Hungary), maintained for 6 weeks before the experiments to induce atrial electrical remodeling (monitored by the measurement of the right atrial effective refractory period (AERP) every second day). The AERPs were measured at basic cycle lengths (BCL) of 300 ms with a train of 10 stimuli (S1) followed by an extrastimulus (S2), with the AERP defined as the longest S1-S2 interval that did not produce a response.

On the day of the experiment atrial pacing was stopped, continuous recording of the electrocardiogram started using precordial leads and the AERP was measured. A control set of 10-second-long rapid atrial bursts (25 times, 800 beats/min, at twice threshold) were performed to induce atrial fibrillation in conscious dogs preceded by an infusion of vehicle in 15 min. Following the measurement of AERP, additional sets of atrial bursts were applied subsequent to SZV-270 (0.3 mg/kg), or dofetilide (Sigma-Aldrich, 25 μ g/kg), i.v. administration. At least 5 days were allowed for washout between *in vivo* experiments with the two compounds. Intravenous infusions were performed using a programmable infusion

pump (Terufusion TE-3, Terumo Europe, Leuven, Belgium). The ECG was recorded using precordial leads, using SPEL Advanced Haemosys software (version 3.2, MDE Heidelberg GmbH, Heidelberg, Germany) as described above. The AERP and the incidence of AF were measured and calculated. Experiments were performed in unrestraint conscious dogs, therefore any effects of anesthetics (Freeman *et al.*, 1990; Baczkó *et al.*, 1997) on AERP and AF could be ruled out.

3.2.2 Action potential (AP) recordings with the conventional microelectrode technique

3.2.2.1. AP measurements from canine atrial trabeculae

Male Beagle dogs (weighing 12-15 kg; n=6) were sedated (xylazine, 1 mg/kg, i.v. and ketamine, 10 mg/kg, i.v.) and anesthetized (pentobarbital, Sigma-Aldrich, 30 mg/kg i.v.), their hearts were rapidly removed through right lateral thoracotomy. The hearts were immediately rinsed in oxygenated modified Locke's solution containing (in mM): NaCl 128.3, KCl 4, CaCl₂ 1.8, MgCl₂ 0.42, NaHCO₃ 21.4, and glucose 10. The pH of the solution was set between 7.35 and 7.4 when saturated with the mixture of 95% oxygen and 5% CO₂ at 37 °C. Isolated right atrial trabeculae were obtained, individually mounted in a tissue chamber and stimulated as decribed previously (Juhász et al., 2018) (**Figure 6.**). The maximal rate of depolarization (V_{max}), maximum diastolic potential, action potential amplitude, and action potential duration measured at 90% of repolarization (APD₉₀) were evaluated off-line, applying stimulation with a constant basic cycle length (BCL) of 500 ms.

3.2.2.2. AP measurements from canine and rabbit right ventricular papillary muscles and in canine Purkinje fibers

Male Beagle dogs (weighing 12-15 kg; n=7) and white rabbits (weighing 2-3 kg; n=6) were used for the experiments. Right ventricular papillary muscle tips were obtained, mounted and stimulated using the conventional microelectrode technique as described previously (Jost *et al.*, 2013; Kohajda *et al.*, 2016). The preparations were stimulated (HSE stimulator type 215/II) initially at a constant cycle length of 500 ms (canine Purkinje fibers) or 1000 ms (canine and rabbit papillary muscle), with rectangular constant current pulses 2 ms in duration. The current pulses were isolated from ground and delivered through bipolar platinum electrodes. Transmembrane potentials were recorded with the use of conventional 5–20 M Ω , 3 M KCl-filled microelectrodes connected to the input of a high-impedance electrometer (Biologic Amplifier VF 102, Claix, France). The first derivative of transmembrane potential (dV/dt_{max}) was obtained electronically with a Biologic DV-140

(Claix, France) differentiator. At least 60 min. was allowed for each preparation to equilibrate during continuous superfusion with modified Locke's solution, warmed to 37°C before the experimental measurements commenced. The following types of stimulation in the course of the experiments were applied: stimulation with a constant cycle length of 1000 or 500 ms (1 or 2 Hz); stimulation with different constant cycle lengths ranging from 300 to 5000 ms taking the measurements after the 25th beat. The preparations were then superfused with the solution containing 1 µM SZV-270 for 40-60 min. before the pacing protocol was repeated and the parameters were measured again, then superfusion continued with 5 µM SZV-270 for another 40-60 min. and measurements were repeated. Efforts were made to maintain the same impalement throughout each experiment. In case an impalement became dislodged, however, adjustment was performed and the experiment continued if AP characteristics of the reestablished impalement deviated less than 5% from the previous measurement.



Figure 6. Schematic illustration of a typical conventional microelectrode set-up used to detect action potentials derived from cardiac tissue slices *in vitro*. Abbreviations: APA: AP amplitude (mV), RMP: resting membrane potential (mV), Vmax: maximal speed of depolarisation (V/s), APD90: AP duration at 90% of the maximal repolarisation (ms), A/D: analogue/digital converter

3.2.3 Whole cell patch-clamp studies

Isolated ventricular cardiomyocytes were obtained from male rabbits (weighing 2-3 kg) by enzymatic dissociation as described previously (Major et al., 2016). A drop of cell suspension was placed into a transparent recording chamber mounted on the stage of an inverted microscope (Olympus IX51, Olympus, Tokyo, Japan), and myocytes were allowed to settle and adhere to the bottom of the chamber for at least 5 minutes before superfusion was initiated (Figure 7). HEPES buffered Tyrode's solution was used as the normal superfusate. This solution contained (in mM): NaCl 144, NaH₂PO₄ 0.4, KCl 4.0, CaCl₂ 1.8, MgSO₄ 0.53, Glucose 5.5, and HEPES 5.0 at pH of 7.4. Patch clamp micropipettes were made from borosilicate glass capillaries using a P-97 Flaming/Brown micropipette puller (Sutter Co, Novato, CA, USA). The electrodes had 1.5-2.5 MQ resistances when filled with pipette solution that contained (in mM): KOH 110, KCl 40, K₂ATP 5, MgCl₂ 5, EGTA 5, GTP 0.1 and HEPES 10, during K⁺ current measurements. Aspartic acid was used to adjust the pH of the pipette solution to 7.2. The L-type calcium current (I_{CaL}) was recorded in HEPESbuffered Tyrode's solution supplemented with 3 mM 4-aminopyridine. A special pipette solution was used containing (in mM: KOH 40, KCl 110, TEACl 20, MgATP 5, EGTA 10, HEPES 10 and GTP 0.25, pH was adjusted to 7.2 by KOH.

Ionic membrane currents were recorded with the Axopatch 200B patch-clamp amplifier (Molecular Devices, Sunnyvale, CA, USA) using the whole cell configuration of the patch clamp technique. Membrane currents were digitized and recorded under software control (Digidata 1440A, pClamp 10, Molecular Devices, Sunnyvale, CA, USA) after lowpass filtering at 1 kHz. The inward rectifier (I_{K1}), transient outward (I_{to}), rapid (I_{Kr}) delayed rectifier potassium currents were recorded in rabbit ventricular myocytes. 1 μ M nisoldipine was included in the bath solution to block I_{Ca,L}. When I_{Kr} was recorded, I_{Ks} was inhibited by using the selective I_{Ks} blocker HMR1556 (0.5 μ M). All experiments were performed at 37 °C.



Figure 7. Schematic illustration of a patc- clamp set-up in whole cell configuration.

3.2.4 Statistical analysis for the SZV-270 study

The incidence of arrhythmias was calculated and compared by using the χ^2 method. All other data are expressed as mean ± SEM. Statistical analysis was performed using ORIGIN 8.1 (Microcal Software, Northampton, MA, USA). Differences between means were compared by ANOVA followed by Student's t-test (paired or unpaired, as appropriate). Data were considered as statistically significant when p<0.05.

3.3 Cardiac electrophysiological studies with rofecoxib

3.3.1 In vitro simulated ischemia/reperfusion injury study

For isolated papillary muscle experiments, male Wistar rats weighing 200–250 g were used. The rats were anesthetized with pentobarbital intraperitoneally (30 mg/kg), followed by rapid excision of the heart via thoracotomy. Left ventricular papillary muscle preparations were mounted in a tissue chamber (volume together with solution reservoir: 50 mL) and they were then continuously perfused with oxygen–saturated, HEPES-buffered Tyrode's solution (in mM: NaCl 144, NaH₂PO₄ 0.4, KCl 4, MgSO₄ 0.53, CaCl₂ 1.8, glucose 5.5, HEPES 5 at pH 7.4, 37 °C). The preparations were stimulated (Hugo Sachs Electronik stimulator type 215/II, March-Hugstetten, Germany) at a cycle length of 1000 ms (frequency: 1 Hz), while

using 2 ms-long rectangular constant voltage pulses that were isolated from ground and delivered across bipolar platinum electrodes in contact with the preparation. Transmembrane potentials were recorded while using the conventional microelectrode technique. Microelectrodes that were filled with 3 M KCl and exhibiting tip resistances of 5–20 M Ω were connected to a high impedance electrometer (type 309, MDE Heidelberg GMBH, Heidelberg, Germany) coupled to a dual beam oscilloscope (Tektronix, Beaverton, OR, USA). Figure 8 illustrates the experimental design and study protocols. Altogether, 54 animals were included in the ex vivo experiments. Papillary muscles of 6 animals/group were superfused with oxygen-saturated HEPES-buffered Tyrode's solution (normoxic solution) and were allowed to equilibrate for 60 min. before baseline measurements were taken. Throughout the experiments, measurements were taken every 2 min. Following the 60-min. equilibration period, groups of preparations were superfused with normoxic solution containing either vehicle, 1 or 10 µM rofecoxib (Normoxia groups) dissolved in DMSO for 90 min. The concentration of 1 µM was chosen for rofecoxib based on the peak plasma concentration (C_{max}) measured after a single, 5 mg kg⁻¹ oral dose of rofecoxib in rats (Halpin et al., 2000). The highest final concentration of DMSO following the application of 10 µM rofecoxib was 0.2% in the solution. Following the 60-min. baseline superfusion, groups of preparations were superfused with normoxic solution for 30 min. then with nitrogen-saturated and HEPES-buffered solution (ischemic solution, in mM: NaCl 144, NaH₂PO₄ 0.4, KCl 4, MgSO₄ 0.53, CaCl₂ 1.8, 2-deoxy-D-glucose 5.5, HEPES 5 at pH 6.9, and 37 °C) for 30 min., and then with normoxic solution for 30 min., all containing either vehicle, 1 or 10 µM rofecoxib (sI/R groups) to induce simulated I/R (sI/R). In additional groups of preparations, sIPC (sIPC groups) was performed before 30 min. ischemia by using the following protocol: three times 5-min. simulated ischemia with intermittent 5 min. reperfusion periods. Before index ischemia, the last reperfusion lasted 15 min.



Figure 8. *Ex vivo* simulated ischemia/reperfusion (sI/R) injury study protocol: action potential parameters were measured in isolated rat left ventricular papillary muscle in normoxic, sI/R and simulated ischemic preconditioning (sIPC) conditions in the presence of vehicle or 1 or 10 μ M rofecoxib, respectively.

3.3.2 Evaluation of action potential parameters

Unbiased evaluation of action potential parameters was achieved by automatic evaluation while using software that was developed in Department of Pharmacology and Pharmacotherapy, University of Szeged (Hugo Sachs Electronic-Action Potential Evaluation System): V_{max} , CT, RMP, APA, APD at 75 and 90% of repolarization (APD₇₅ and APD₉₀, respectively). The maintenance of the same impalement throughout each experiment was attempted. However, in case an impalement was dislodged, electrode adjustment was performed, and the experiment was terminated and all data were excluded from analysis if the action potential characteristics of the re-established impalement deviated by more than 5% from the previous measurement.

3.3.3 Statistical analysis for the rofecoxib study

The difference between treatment groups was evaluated while using two-way ANOVA or one-way ANOVA followed by Fisher LSD post hoc tests with multiple comparisons. We used GraphPad Prism (version 6.0, GraphPad Software, California, USA) and R (version 3.4) with the lme4 library. We claimed that the differences were statistically significant when p < 0.05.

4. RESULTS

4.1 Antiarrhythmic and cardiac electrophysiological effects of SZV-270

4.1.1 Effects of SZV-270 and dofetilide on burst-induced atrial fibrillation in conscious dogs

Before starting the chronic rapid atrial pacing at 400 beats/min in conscious dogs, the right atrial effective refractory period (AERP) values in these animals were 128 ± 3.2 ms (n=6, at basic cycle length of 300 ms). The AERP significantly decreased to 88 ± 2.8 ms after 6 weeks of rapid right atrial pacing, indicating marked electrical remodeling of the right atrium. In all dogs, the effects of SZV-270 on AERP and incidence of AF were compared to that of the I_{Kr} blocker dofetilide. As **Figure 9** illustrates, both SZV-270 and dofetilide markedly increased AERP and significantly reduced the incidence of AF in conscious dogs.



Figure 9. Effect of the selective I_{Kr} blocker dofetilide (25 µg/kg, i.v.) and SZV-270 (0.3 mg/kg, i.v.) on atrial fibrillation in conscious dogs with electrical atrial remodeling induced by atrial tachypacing. (A) Both dofetilide and SZV-270 increased right atrial effective refractory period (AERP) significantly. (B) Both dofetilide and SZV-270 reduced the incidence of atrial fibrillation (AF) significantly. AERP was measured at basic cycle length of 300 ms. Values are mean ± SEM; n=4-6 animals/group; *p<0.05 vs control values.

4.1.2 Effects of SZV-270 on action potentials in rabbit and canine right ventricular papillary muscles

In our experiments, we studied the possible mechanisms responsible for the atrial and ventricular antiarrhythmic effects of SZV-270. First, the effects of SZV-270 (1 and 5 μ M) were investigated using the conventional microelectrode technique on the action potential configuration in rabbit and canine right ventricular papillary muscle preparations. As **Table 2 and 3** shows, SZV-270 did not alter resting membrane potential (RMP), action potential amplitude (APA) and the maximum rate of depolarization (V_{max}) in rabbit and dog papillary muscle at 1 Hz stimulation frequency However, SZV-270 exerted Class III antiarrhythmic effects by prolonging the repolarization at 50%, 75% and 90% (APD₅₀, APD₇₅ and APD₉₀) and the effective refractory period in both species, in a concentration dependent manner (**Figure 10A, Figure 11A, Table 2 and 3**). The cycle length dependent effects of SZV-270 (1 and 5 μ M) were also investigated in rabbit right ventricular papillary muscle preparations (**Figures 10B and C**). In the higher applied concentration, SZV-270 exerted Class I/B antiarrhythmic effect in both species: it significantly decreased V_{max} at cycle lengths shorter than 1000 ms (**Figure 10B and Figure 11B**).



Figure 10. Effect of SZV-270 (1 and 5 μ M) on the action potential parameters, on V_{max} and APD₉₀ at different stimulation cycle lengths recorded from <u>rabbit right ventricular papillary muscle</u> preparations. (A) SZV-270 prolonged the APD₉₀ in rabbit right ventricular papillary muscle. (B) SZV-270 (5 μ M) significantly reduced V_{max} at 300 ms cycle length, (C) and both concentrations significantly prolonged APD₉₀ at cycle lengths shorter than 3000 ms. Values are means ± SEM. n=6, *p<0.05 vs. control values.

Parameter	Control	SZV-270 1 μM	SZV-270 5 μM
RMP (mV)	-86.3 ± 1.8	-84.2 ± 1.2	-85.2 ± 1.4
APA (mV)	115.7 ± 1.8	112.8 ± 3.3	113.5 ± 2.5
APD ₁₀ (ms)	54.8 ± 7.2	49.6 ± 7.4	50.8 ± 9.1
APD ₂₅ (ms)	105.2 ± 11.5	108.2 ± 14.6	114.5 ±16.2
APD ₅₀ (ms)	152.3 ± 15.4	$178.7 \pm 18.9*$	$221.2 \pm 23.9*$
APD ₇₅ (ms)	174.3 ± 15.6	$209.0\pm18.6*$	$263.7 \pm 23.9*$
APD ₉₀ (ms)	183.3 ± 15.4	$219.3 \pm 18.5 \ast$	$274.5 \pm 23.7*$
V _{max} (V/s)	229.8 ± 24.3	231.2 ± 23.2	241.0 ± 22.1
ERP (ms)	174.7 ± 14.7	223.8 ± 20.4*	277.5 ± 27.5*

Table 2. Effect of SZV-270 (1 and 5 μ M) on the action potential parameters <u>in rabbit right</u> <u>ventricular papillary muscle</u> preparations (n=6). Stimulation frequency = 1 Hz; RMP = resting membrane potential; APA = action potential amplitude; APD₁₀₋₂₅₋₅₀₋₇₅₋₉₀ = action potential duration at 10, 25, 50, 75 and 90% of repolarisation; V_{max} = maximal rate of depolarization; ERP = effective refractory period. Results are expressed as means ± SEM; *p<0.05.



Figure 11. Effect of SZV-270 (1 and 5 μ M) on the action potential parameters, on V_{max} and APD₉₀ at different stimulation cycle lengths recorded from <u>dog right ventricular papillary muscle</u> preparations. (A) SZV-270 prolonged the action potential in canine right ventricular papillary muscle. (B) SZV-270 (5 μ M) significantly reduced Vmax at 300 ms cycle length, (C) and both concentrations significantly prolonged APD₉₀ in these preparations. Values are means ± SEM. n=6, *p<0.05 vs. control values.

Parameter	Control	SZV-270 1 μM	SZV-270 5 μM
RMP (mV)	-84.9 ± 1.0	-85.4 ± 1.0	-83.9 ± 1.1
APA (mV)	105.4 ± 1.3	$107.3 \pm 1.3*$	106.0 ± 2.4
APD ₁₀ (ms)	60.9 ± 13.3	66.3 ± 14.2	58.9 ± 16.7
APD ₂₅ (ms)	133.0 ± 6.9	$143.9\pm8.0^{\ast}$	149.4 ± 7.7
APD ₅₀ (ms)	180.0 ± 6.8	$198.3 \pm 9.9*$	208.0 ± 11.4
APD ₇₅ (ms)	201.6 ± 7.5	$222.6 \pm 11.0*$	$240.7 \pm 10.4*$
APD ₉₀ (ms)	211.4 ± 7.9	233.6 ± 11.2*	$251.7 \pm 10.6*$
V _{max} (V/s)	208.0 ± 8.9	220.6 ± 13.0	212.0 ± 12.7
ERP (ms)	223.4 ± 8.3	$250.0 \pm 14.1*$	263.4 ± 13.1*

Table 3. Effect of SZV-270 (1 and 5 μ M) on the action potential parameters in <u>dog right ventricular</u> <u>papillary muscle</u> preparations (n=7). Stimulation frequency = 1 Hz; RMP = resting membrane potential; APA = action potential amplitude; APD₁₀₋₂₅₋₅₀₋₇₅₋₉₀ = action potential duration at 10, 25, 50, 75 and 90% of repolarisation; V_{max} = maximal rate of depolarization; ERP = effective refractory period. Results are expressed as means ± SEM; *p<0.05.

4.1.3 Effects of SZV-270 on action potentials in canine Purkinje fibers

In dog Purkinje fibers SZV-270 did not influence the RMP or the APA (**Table 4**). SZV-270 showed more complex effects on the repolarization in Purkinje fibers compared to papillary muscle preparations. As shown in **Table 4**, at 2 Hz stimulation frequency the compound significantly lenghtened the APD₇₅ and APD₉₀, however, the APD prolongation was smaller after the application of the larger concentration than that was seen following the application of the smaller concentration. The larger concentration decreased APD₅₀ significantly. SZV-270 reduced V_{max} significantly in a concentration dependent manner (**Table 4**).

Parameter	Control	SZV-270 1 μM	SZV-270 5 μM
RMP (mV)	-89.3 ± 0.8	-90.2 ± 0.6	-89.2 ± 0.6
APA (mV)	125.0 ± 1.9	127.2 ± 1.5	123.7 ± 1.5
APD ₁₀ (ms)	1.8 ± 0.15	1.8 ± 0.17	1.7 ± 0.21
APD ₂₅ (ms)	32.6 ± 9.6	30.5 ± 10.0	24.6 ± 7.2
$APD_{50}(ms)$	174.7 ±11.1	186.8 ± 13.9	$144.2 \pm 12.1*$
APD ₇₅ (ms)	229.3 ± 6.3	$271.5\pm9.6^*$	$245.5 \pm 7.1*$
APD ₉₀ (ms)	250.0 ± 6.3	$301.0\pm10.2*$	$285.0\pm9.1*$
V _{max} (V/s)	730.8 ± 67.6	$704.7 \pm 64.3*$	$684.8 \pm 43.4*$

Table 4. Effect of SZV-270 (1 and 5 μ M) on the action potential parameters in <u>canine Purkinje</u> <u>fibers</u> (n=6). Stimulation frequency = 2 Hz; RMP = resting membrane potential; APA = action potential amplitude; APD₁₀₋₂₅₋₅₀₋₇₅₋₉₀ = action potential duration at 10, 25, 50, 75 and 90% of repolarisation; V_{max} = maximal rate of depolarization; *p<0.05

4.1.4 Effects of SZV-270 on action potentials in canine right atrial trabeculae

The effects of SZV-270 (1 and 5 μ M) on atrial action potentials were studied on dog atrial trabeculae. SZV-270 did not change the RMP, APA and V_{max} at 2 Hz stimulation frequency in canine atrial preparations (**Table 5**). Importantly, SZV-270 significantly lengthened atrial action potentials (**Figure 12A**), APD₅₀, APD₇₅ and APD₉₀ in a concentration dependent manner (**Table 5**). These effects can, at least in part, the reason for the observed atrial antiarrhythmic effects of SZV-270 in our canine AF model.



Figure 12. The effects of SZV-270 (1 and 5 μ M) on the action potential parameters, on V_{max} and APD₉₀ at different stimulation cycle lengths recorded from isolated <u>canine right atrial trabeculae</u>. (A) SZV-270 prolonged the action potential in dog atrial trabeculae. (B) SZV-270 did not significantly alter V_{max}, however, (C) prolonged APD₉₀ significantly in these preparations. Values are means \pm SEM. n=6, *p<0.05 vs. control values.

Parameter	Control	SZV-270 1 μM	SZV-270 5 μM
RMP (mV)	-85.7 ± 1.2	-85.2 ± 1.6	-85.5 ± 1.1
APA (mV)	109.0 ± 1.0	109.3 ± 1.6	111.5 ± 2.5
APD ₁₀ (ms)	9.0 ± 0.7	9.2 ± 0.5	9.5 ± 0.8
APD ₂₅ (ms)	43.8 ± 5.1	46.6 ± 4.6	47.4 ± 4.2
APD ₅₀ (ms)	74.0 ± 5.8	$81.8 \pm 8.0*$	$83.8 \pm 6.6*$
APD ₇₅ (ms)	100.2 ± 4.8	$115.0 \pm 8.8*$	$120.5 \pm 8.0*$
APD ₉₀ (ms)	130.8 ± 4.1	$156.0 \pm 9.6*$	$165.0 \pm 9.4*$
V _{max} (V/s)	299.8 ± 38.8	343.0 ± 37.8	347.2 ± 45.8

Table 5. Effect of SZV-270 (1 and 5 μ M) on the action potential parameters <u>in canine right atrial</u> <u>trabecular preparations</u> (n=6). Stimulation frequency = 2 Hz; RMP = resting membrane potential; APA = action potential amplitude; APD₁₀₋₂₅₋₅₀₋₇₅₋₉₀ = action potential duration at 10, 25, 50, 75 and 90% of repolarisation; V_{max} = maximal rate of depolarization. Results are expressed as means ± SEM; *p<0.05.

4.1.5 Effects of SZV-270 on various transmembrane ionic currents in isolated rabbit ventricular myocytes

To investigate the cellular mechanisms underlying the observed in vivo and in vitro effects of SZV-270, rabbit right ventricular myocytes were isolated and the effects of the drug were observed on I_{Kr} , I_{K1} , I_{to} and $I_{Ca,L}$ using the the whole cell configuration of the patchclamp technique. As **Figure 13** shows, SZV-270 blocked I_{Kr} significantly in relatively low, 100 and 500 nM concentrations. This result is consistent with the APD lengthening and QTc prolonging effect of the drug. SZV-270 had no effects on the other transmembrane currents, I_{K1} (**Figure 14A**), I_{to} (**Figure 14B**) and $I_{Ca,L}$ (**Figure 15**), even at the high (10 μ M) concentration.



100 nM SZV-270



Figure 13. The effect of SZV-270 on the rapid component of the delayed rectifier potassium current (I_{Kr}). SZV-270 inhibited the I_{Kr} tail current in a concentration dependent manner (**panel A**: effects of 100 nM, **panel B**: effects of 500 nM SZV-270). Left subpanels show original current traces in control conditions and following application of 100 and 500 nM SZV-270. Graphs on the right show the respective current-voltage relationships. Values are means \pm SEM. n=3-5, *p<0.05 vs corresponding data point in control conditions.



Figure 14. SZV-270 did not influence (**A**) I_{K1} or (**B**) I_{to} even at the high concentration of 10 μ M in isolated rabbit right ventricular cardiomyocytes. Left panels depict original current traces recorded in control conditions and in the presence of 10 μ M SZV-270. Right panels show the current-voltage relationships. Values are means \pm SEM. n=5-6, all p>0.05.



Figure 15. SZV-270 did not influence $I_{Ca,L}$ even at the high concentration of 10 μ M in isolated rabbit right ventricular cardiomyocytes. Left panels depict original current traces recorded in control conditions, in the presence of 10 μ M SZV-270 and following washout. Right panel shows the current-voltage relationship. Values are means \pm SEM. n=4, all p>0.05.

4.2 Effects of rofecoxib on action potential in rat isolated papillary muscles

In order to investigate the effects of rofecoxib on cardiac action potential parameters, we performed in vitro simulated ischemia/reperfusion (sI/R) and sIPC experiments on isolated rat left ventricular papillary muscles. Rofecoxib treatment did not alter any of the observed electrophysiological parameters, including APD₉₀ (**Figure 16 A, B**) in normoxic conditions. After 30 min. of simulated ischemia, APD₉₀ was shortened significantly (**Figure 16**) in all groups compared to the respective normoxic groups. Importantly, in the presence of sI/R rofecoxib increased APD₉₀ in a concentration-dependent manner (**Figure 16**) after reperfusion following the 30 min. simulated ischemia. In the sIPC group, these effects of rofecoxib on repolarization were not observed during reperfusion (**Figure 16**). The effects of rofecoxib on the resting membrane potential (RMP), conduction time (CT), action potential amplitude (APA), and maximum rate of depolarization (V_{max}) in sI/R are shown in **Table 6**. 30 min. of simulated ischemia caused an increase of CT in all groups, while V_{max} was decreased significantly in the rofecoxib treated groups (**Table 6**), possibly indicating reduced sodium channel function after rofecoxib administration in only ischemic conditions. The fact that rofecoxib did not influence repolarisation duration on its own in the control group (without

ischaemia/reperfusion), but its repolarisation prolonging effects was definitely manifested at the end of the reperfusion period indicate that rofecoxib could indeed alter repolarisation processes following an ischaemic event. Importantly, we also found that these rofecoxibinduced potentially harmful post-ischaemic repolarisation disturbances could be prevented by ischaemic preconditioning.



Figure 16. (A) Action potential duration at 90% repolarization (APD₉₀) decreased by the end of 30 min. simulated ischemia in the simulated ischemia/reperfusion groups (sI/R) and simulated ischemic preconditioning groups (sIPC) as compared to the normoxia (N) group. (B) Rofecoxib increased the APD₉₀ in adult rat isolated papillary muscles at the end of reperfusion and this effect was reversed by sIPC (*p<0.05 vs. corresponding normoxia group, #p < 0.05 vs. sI/R + vehicle, $\dagger p < 0.05$ vs. sI/R + 1 μ M rofecoxib, $\Delta p < 0.05$ vs. corresponding sI/R group, n = 5–6).

Action potential	Crown	Vabiala	1 µM	10 µM		
parameters	Group	venicie	rofecoxib	rofecoxib		
ADA at and of isobaamia	Normoxia	106.7 ± 2.55	110.3 ± 0.79	112.7 ± 0.98		
(mV)	sI/R	97.0 ± 2.56	98.5 ± 2.01*	89.6 ± 2.47*		
(111)	sIPC	89.4 ± 5.87*	90.6 ± 5.59*	91.7 ± 7.03*		
ADA at and of reperfusion	Normoxia	108.6 ± 2.35	110.4 ± 0.96	112.4 ± 1.10		
(mV)	sI/R	110.1 ± 1.89	109.9 ± 0.19	110.8 ± 2.23		
(111)	sIPC	106.2 ± 4.93	113.2 ± 2.98	105.7 ± 4.02		
	Normoxia	4.8 ± 0.28	4.8 ± 0.33	4.5 ± 0.21		
CT at end of ischaemia (ms)	sI/R	$7.3 \pm 0.58*$	$7.6 \pm 0.45*$	$7.3 \pm 0.37*$		
	sIPC	$6.7 \pm 0.67*$	$5.8\pm5.58^{*\Delta}$	$6.2 \pm 0.83*$		
CT at and of reperfusion	Normoxia	5.2 ± 0.20	4.8 ± 0.32	4.6 ± 0.22		
(ms)	sI/R	4.9 ± 0.24	4.4 ± 0.31	4.5 ± 0.36		
(mb)	sIPC	5.4 ± 0.69	4.9 ± 0.31	4.5 ± 0.44		
RMP at end of ischaemia	Normoxia	-87.8 ± 2.96	-90.6 ± 2.03	-86.3 ± 3.00		
(mV)	sI/R	-82.1 ± 1.78	$-78.3 \pm 3.45*$	-77.0 ± 1.59		
	sIPC	-80.2 ± 4.20	$-78.5 \pm 2.78^{*}$	-77.9 ± 7.41		
RMP at end of reperfusion	Normoxia	-85.4 ± 3.00	-89.3 ± 1.51	-88.6 ± 1.74		
(mV)	sI/R	-89.5 ± 1.79	-91.4 ± 2.34	-92.8 ± 1.98		
	sIPC	-89.7 ± 3.35	-86.0 ± 2.08	-88.5 ± 3.79		
V _{man} at end of ischaemia	Normoxia	170.1 ± 31.76	211.4 ± 19.14	198.1 ± 17.52		
(V/s)	sI/R	142.5 ± 21.43	$112.4 \pm 10.5*$	109.3 ± 12.53*		
	sIPC	121.1 ± 17.75	135.4 ± 12.35*	139.9 ± 11.42*		
V _{mar} at end of reperfusion	Normoxia	158.7 ± 26.09	208.2 ± 21.49	207.1 ± 16.01		
(V/s)	sI/R	$2\overline{05.9 \pm 20.44}$	189.2 ± 7.20	174.2 ± 6.69		
(115)	sIPC	205.9 ± 20.8	172.6 ± 23.57	195.3 ± 24.28		

Table 6. Action potential parameters measured in <u>**rat papillary muscles**</u> in normoxic, simulated ischemia/reperfusion (sI/R) and simulated ischemic preconditioning (sIPC) conditions. APA: action potential amplitude, CT: conduction time, RMP: resting membrane potential, V_{max} : maximum rate of depolarization, *p<0.05 vs. corresponding normoxia group, $^{\Delta}p<0.05$ vs. corresponding sI/R group, n = 5–6).

5. DISCUSSION

5.1 SZV-270 has combined Class I/B and Class III effects

A promising approach to safer and more effective pharmacological treatment of arrhythmia is useing novel compounds that exhibit more complex actions and modulate several ionic currents.

In this study, the cardiac cellular electrophysiological and in vivo antiarrhythmic effects of SZV-270, a novel compound with a structure that features Class I/B and Class III structural elements (of D-sotalol and mexiletine, **Figure 3**), were investigated in dogs and rabbits, two species used frequently in arrhythmia research.

To elucidate the mechanisms underlying the ventricular antiarrhythmic effects of SZV-270, action potential measurements were performed in rabbit and dog right ventricular papillary muscle preparations, and several ionic currents were also measured in isolated rabbit right ventricular cardiomyocytes. The compound lengthened the effective refractory period, APD₅₀, APD₇₅ and APD₉₀ in a concentration dependent manner in ventricular preparations in both species (**Tables 2 and 3**). Similar effects were observed with sotalol (Stroobandt *et al.*, 1986; Taggart et al., 1985). Furthermore, SZV-270 significantly inhibited the IKr tail current at relatively low concentrations of 100 and 500 nM (Figure 13). These Class III antiarrhythmic effects were supplemented by Class I/B effects of SZV-270 in the present study. In right ventricular preparations isolated from dogs and rabbits, the larger investigated concentration of SZV-270 significantly reduced V_{max} at stimulation cycle lengths shorter than 1000 ms (Figures 10B and 11B). In other studies, lidocaine (Rosen et al., 1975) and mexiletene (Hézső et al, 2021; Manolis et al, 1990) showed similar electrophysiological effects on dog and rabbit preparations. In addition, the larger concentration of SZV-270 prolonged APD₉₀ in a lesser degree and significantly shortened APD₅₀ (depressed the plateau phase) in dog Purkinje fibers (Table 4). These effects can decrease repolarization heterogeneity in the ventricle, resembling a similar effect of amiodarone (Papp et al., 1996). Even high concentrations of SZV-270 did not affect IK1, Ito and ICa,L in rabbit right ventricular cardiomyocytes (Figures 14 and 15).

Based on the results of this study, SZV-270 exhibits combined Class I/B and Class III antiarrhythmic actions. The following considerations suggest that this combination is beneficial. Class III drugs prolong repolarization and the effective refractory period and are especially effective against re-entry arrhythmias (Lynch *et al.*, 1985; Hohnloser *et al.*, 1995; Fei and Frame, 1996). However, Class III compounds possess marked proarrhythmic activity: they promote EAD formation and subsequent development of TdP polymorphic ventricular

tachycardia (Buchanan *et al.*, 1993; Vos *et al.*, 1995; Gottlieb *et al.*, 1997). Drugs with ClassI/B actions, however, can reduce EAD formation (Papp *et al.*, 1996; Sicouri *et al.*, 1997) and have been shown to suppress TdP induced by pure Class III agents (Shimizu and Antzelevitch, 1997; Assimes and Malcolm, 1998). Also, the combination of the Class I/B drug mexiletine and the Class III compound sotalol prevented ventricular tachyarrhythmias in dogs with myocardial infarction (Chezalviel *et al.*, 1993). Luderitz et al. also suggested that the combination of mexiletine and sotalol was able to suppress ventricular arrhythmias more effectively than either compound alone (Luderitz *et al.*, 1991). These results strongly suggest that a compound with combined Class I/B and III effects can prevent re-entry arrhythmias with reduced risk of provoking TdP arrhythmia.

The antiarrhythmic effects of SZV-270 were tested in a conscious dog model of atrial fibrillation that is based on chronic right atrial tachypacing-induced atrial electrical remodeling (Morillo *et al.*, 1995). SZV-270 significantly reduced the incidence of burst-induced AF and prolonged the AERP (**Figure 9**). In canine right atrial trabeculae, SZV-270 prolonged the APD₅₀, APD₇₅ and APD₉₀ in a concentration dependent manner (**Table 5**). The effects of SZV-270 on AF in this model were comparable to those of the selective I_{Kr} blocker dofetilide, which is known as an effective compound for rhythm control in AF (Kirchhof 2016; Piccini and Fauchier 2016). Dofetilide also reduced AF incidence and increased AERP in the present study, and was shown to prolong atrial APD in atrial trabeculae isolated from dogs with chronic tachypacing induced atrial remodeling (Juhász *et al.*, 2018). The beneficial effects of dofetilide in AF were attributed to its atrial repolarization and AERP prolonging effects (Allessie *et al.*, 2001; Pedersen *et al.*, 2001). The AF incidence reducing effects of SZV-270 is also probably due to its atrial APD prolonging effects in this study.

In order to test the hypothesis, that because of the combined class I/B and Class III properties, SZV-270 has no proarrhythmic effects, we used an anesthetized rabbit proarrhythmia model. On the ECG recordings, SZV-270 widened the QRS interval, and despite QTc prolongation, the combination of HMR 1556 and SZV-270 did not increase the short-term variability of the QT interval (STV_{QT}) and did not induce TdP (Varga *et al.*, 2021). STV_{QT} is a new ECG biomarker, which shows a better correlation with the occurrence of ventricular arrhythmias, than the QT prolongation, in animal experiments (Thomsen *et al.*, 2004, 2006; Lengyel *et al.*, 2007) and in clinical studies (Hinterseer *et al.*, 2008, 2009, 2010). These results of the rabbit proarrhythmia experiments are not detailed in this dissertation, because they are the part of an other thesis.

Detection of cardiotoxicity of drugs in early preclinical phase have great importance to increase success rate of drug development and patient safety, therefore novel safety testing methods - involving experimental models of various cardiac diseases, especially myocardial ischaemia/reperfusion - would have great benefits.

Although these additional tests will certainly increase the cost and time of preclinical safety tests, by the early detection of hidden cardiotoxicity of drugs, it will finally lead to:

- overall saving of time and cost of drug development for the pharmaceutical industry by terminating early the development of drugs with potentially cardiotoxic effects;

- increasing success rate of clinical drug development by more rational design of clinical trials to enroll patients that are not prone to manifest certain cardiotoxic side effects of a drug with potential hidden cardiotoxity in a disease condition;

- increased patient safety by preventing the clinical testing and clinical use of potentially cardiotoxic drugs in patient populations that are prone to manifest hidden cardiotoxicity. As an example, in case the potential cardiotoxic effect of rofecoxib (Vioxx) were detected by assays for hidden cardiotoxicity in the early pre-clinical phase of its development, the manufacturer company could have saved significant amount of resources spent for the development of rofecoxib and for the still ongoing legal issues related to its withdrawal from the market in 2004 (Faunce et al., 2010; Mayer, 2008). In a retrospective cohort study of individuals on the expanded Tennessee Medicaid programme, users of high-dose rofecoxib were 1.70 times more likely than non-users to have coronary heart disease, among new users this rate increased to 1.93 (Ray et al., 2002). Early detection of hidden cardiotoxicity of rofecoxib could have prevented the unexpected incidence of myocardial infarction of some patients taking Vioxx. However, more than a decade after its withdrawal, the mechanism of hidden cardiotoxicity of rofecoxib is still a question of debate. In a comprehensive analysis of 114 randomized trials with 116 094 participants, rofecoxib increased risks of renal events (peripheral edema, renal dysfunction, hypertension) and arrhythmia events (the vast majority were ventricular fibrillation, cardiac arrest, and sudden cardiac death) (Zhang et al., 2006). However, to increase the productivity of drug development, we definitely need to increase knowledge on mechanisms and early detection of drug toxicity.

In a recent study (Brenner *et al.*, 2020), rats were treated with rofecoxib for four weeks and then subjected to 30 min. ischemia and 120 min. reperfusion to investigate hidden cardiotoxicity of rofecoxib. Rofecoxib treatment increased the mortality rate as compared to the pooled data of other groups. In the I/R + rofecoxib group, seven animals died due to irreversible ventricular fibrillation during the ischemic period and one animal died due to a sudden drop in blood pressure during reperfusion. In the I/R + vehicle group, only one animal died due to irreversible ventricular fibrillation during the ischemic period. In the IPC + rofecoxib group, one animal died due sudden drop in blood pressure in the reperfusion period. These data imply that the increased mortality due to rofecoxib treatment can be attributed to its proarrhythmic property that only manifests following I/R (Brenner *et al.*, 2020). Myocardial tissue is more susceptible to ventricular arrhythmias during ischemia, and I/R injury may exacerbate proarrhythmic effects of drugs (Ferdinandy *et al.*, 2019).

To further analyze the hidden cardiotoxic effects of rofecoxib, we subjected left ventricular papillary muscles to sI/R. Rofecoxib did not change the action potential parameters in normoxic conditions; however, following sI/R, several, potentially proarrhythmic effects appeared. First, the APD was only significantly prolonged by rofecoxib in cardiac tissue that were subjected to sI/R. Increased spatial dispersion of repolarization between normoxic and ischemic myocardium is a critically important factor that promotes the development of ischemia-induced arrhythmias (Antzelevitch and Fish, 2001; Janse and Wit, 1989). Based on the present results, rofecoxib might further exacerbate the differences in APD between normoxic and ischemic myocardium, further increasing the arrhythmia substrate in I/R. Secondly, simulated ischemia in the presence of rofecoxib more markedly reduced action potential upstroke (characterized by decreased V_{max}) by the end of test ischemia, which only suggested an additional reduction of sodium channel function by rofecoxib in sI/R conditions, further decreasing the already slowed impulse conduction in depolarized ischemic myocardial tissue (Kleber *et al.*, 1986). These data suggest that adverse effects of COX-2 inhibitors may occur only in the presence of cardiac I/R.

Here, we demonstrated, for the first time, that rofecoxib increased acute mortality due to its proarrhythmic effect via increased APD during I/R. We also showed that rofecoxib did not interfere with the cardiprotective effect of IPC and that IPC was able to protect against rofecoxib-induced hidden cardiotoxicity.

6. CONCLUSIONS AND NOVEL FINDINGS

1. SZV-270 blocked I_{Kr} significantly in relatively low, 100 and 500 nM concentrations. This result is consistent with the APD lengthening and QTc prolonging effect of the drug. SZV-270 had no effects on the other transmembrane currents, I_{K1} , I_{to} and $I_{Ca,L}$, even at the high (10 μ M) concentration.

SZV-270 lengthened the effective refractory period, APD₅₀, APD₇₅ and APD₉₀ in a concentration dependent manner in dog and rabbit ventricular and atrial preparations, and Purkinje fibers. The larger investigated concentration of SZV-270 significantly reduced V_{max} at stimulation cycle lengths shorter than 1000 ms. In addition, the larger concentration of SZV-270 prolonged APD₉₀ in a lesser degree and significantly shortened APD₅₀ (depressed the plateau phase) in dog Purkinje fibers.

SZV-270 significantly reduced the incidence of atrial fibrillation and prolonged atrial effective refractory period in a conscious dog model of atrial fibrillation.

2. Rofecoxib did not change the action potential parameters in normoxic conditions; however, following sI/R, several, potentially proarrhythmic effects appeared. First, the APD was only significantly prolonged by rofecoxib in cardiac tissue that were subjected to sI/R. Secondly, simulated ischemia in the presence of rofecoxib more markedly reduced action potential upstroke (characterized by decreased V_{max}) by the end of test ischemia. These results show that cardiac safety testing with simple preclinical models of I/R injury uncovers the hidden cardiotoxicity of rofecoxib and might reveal hidden cardiotoxicity of other drugs.

7. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am very grateful to **Professor András Varró** for providing me the opportunity for research as PhD student at the Department of Pharmacology and Pharmacotherapy, University of Szeged.

I am especially thankful to my PhD supervisor **Dr. István Baczkó**, for personal guidance and continuous support of my work.

I wish to thank my colleagues **Dr**, **Tibor Hornyik**, **Dr. Zoltán Husti** and **Dr. Norbert Nagy** for their continuous support and help in my work, and to **Mrs. Mária Győrfi**, **Mrs. Zsuzsanna Molnár**, **Mr. Gábor Dobai**, **Mr. Róbert Motzwickler** and **Mr. Gábor Girst** for their helpful technical assistance.

I would like to thank my family and friends for their love, help and encouragement.

This work was supported by the National Research, Development and Innovation Office (NKFIH-GINOP-2.3.2-15-2016-00040).

8. REFERENCES

- Abrams, J., Allen, J., Allin, D., Anderson, J., Anderson, S., Blanski, L., Chadda, K., DiBianco, R., Favrot, L., Gonzalez J., et al. 1985. Efficacy and safety of esmolol vs propranolol in the treatment of supraventricular tachyarrhythmias: a multicenter double-blind clinical trial. Am Heart J 110(5):913-22. doi: 10.1016/0002-8703(85)90185-1. PMID: 3904379
- Aksu, T., Yalin, K., Guler, T.E., Bozyel, S., Heeger, C.H. and Tilz, R.R. 2019. Acute procedural complications of cryoballoon ablation: A comprehensive review. J. Atr. Fibrillation 12(3): 2208. doi: 10.4022/jafib.2208. PMID: 32435335.
- Allessie, M.A., Boyden, P.A., Camm, A.J., Kléber, A.G., Lab, M.J., Legato, M.J., et al. 2001. Pathophysiology and prevention of atrial fibrillation. Circulation 103(5): 769–777. doi:10.1161/01.CIR.103.5.769. PMID: 11156892.
- Andrade, J., Khairy, P., Dobrev, D. and Nattel S. 2014. The clinical profile and pathophysiology of atrial fibrillation: relationships among clinical features, epidemiology, and mechanisms. Circ. Res. **114**(9): 1453–1468. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.114.303211. PMID: 24763464.
- 5. Antzelevitch, C.; Sicouri, S. 1994. Clinical relevance of cardiac arrhythmias generated by afterdepolarizations: role of M cells in the generation of U waves, triggered activity and torsade de pointes. J Am Coll Cardiol 23 (1): 259-77
- Antzelevitch, C., Sun, Z.Q., Zhang, Z.Q., Yan G.X. 1996. Cellular and ionic mechanisms underlying erythromycin-induced long QT intervals and torsade de pointes. J Am Coll Cardiol. 28, 1836-1848.
- Antzelevitch, C.; Fish, J. 2001. Electrical heterogeneity within the ventricular wall. Basic Res. Cardiol. 96, 517–527.
- 8. Assimes, T.L., and Malcolm, I., 1998. Torsade de pointes with sotalol overdose treated successfully with lidocaine. Can. J. Cardiol. **14**(5): 753–756. PMID: 9627533.
- Attwell D, Cohen I, Eisner DA. The effects of heart rate on the action potential of guinea-pig and human ventricular muscle. J Physiol 313: 439-461, 1981. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.1981.sp013675
- Atwood, J.E., Sullivan, M., Forbes, S., Myers, J., Pewen, W., Olson, H.G., Froelicher V.F. 1987. Effect of beta-adrenergic blockade on exercise performance in patients

with chronic atrial fibrillation. J Am Coll Cardiol 10(2):314-20. doi: 10.1016/s0735-1097(87)80013-x. PMID: 2885354

- Baczkó, I., El-Reyani, N.E., Farkas, A., Virág, L., Iost, N., Leprán, I. et al. 2000. Antiarrhythmic and electrophysiological effects of GYKI-16638, a novel N-(phenoxyalkyl)-N-phenylalkylamine, in rabbits. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 404(1-2): 181-90. doi: 10.1016/s0014-2999(00)00591-4. PMID: 10980278.
- Baczkó, I., Leprán, I., and Papp, J.G. 1997. Influence of anesthetics on the incidence of reperfusion-induced arrhythmias and sudden death in rats. J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol. 29(2): 196-201. doi: 10.1097/00005344-199702000-00007. PMID: 9057068
- Baczkó, I., Liknes, D., Yang, W., Hamming, K.C., Searle, G., Jaeger, K., et al. 2014. Characterization of a novel multifunctional resveratrol derivative for the treatment of atrial fibrillation. Br. J. Pharmacol. **171**(1): 92-106. doi: 10.1111/bph.12409. PMID: 24102184
- Banyasz T., Magyar J., Szentandrassy N., Horvath B., Birinyi P., Szentmiklosi J., Nanasi PP. 2007. Action potential clamp fingerprints of K⁺ currents in canine cardiomyocytes: their role in ventricular repolarization. Acta Physiol (Oxf).; 190(3), 189-98.
- Banyasz, T., Horvath, B., Jian, Z., Izu, L.T., Chen-Izu, Y. 2012. Profile of L-type Ca(2+) current and Na(+)/Ca(2+) exchange current during cardiac action potential in ventricular myocytes. Heart Rhythm 3367 9: 134-142, doi: 10.1016/j.hrthm.2011.08.029
- 16. Batey, A.J. and Coker, S.J. 2002. Proarrhythmic potential of halofantrine, terfenadine and clofilium in a modified in vivo model of torsade de pointes. Br. J. Pharmacol. 135(4): 1003-1012. doi:10.1038/sj.bjp.0704550. PMID: 11861329
- Belardinelli, L., Antzelevitch, C., and Vos, M.A. 2003. Assessing predictors of druginduced torsade de pointes. Trends Pharmacol Sci. 24(12): 619- 625. doi: 10.1016/j.tips.2003.10.002. PMID: 14654302
- Biliczki P., Virag L., Iost N., Papp JG., Varro A. Interaction of different potassium channels in cardiac repolarization in dog ventricular preparations: role of repolarization reserve. Br J Pharmacol. 2002; 137(3), 361-8.
- Bozic, B., Uzelac, T.V., Kezic, A., Bajcetic, M. 2018. The Role of Quinidine in the Pharmacological Therapy of Ventricular Arrhythmias 'Quinidine'. Mini Rev Med Chem.;18(6), 468-475. doi: 10.2174/1389557517666170707110450.

- 20. Bombardier, C.; Laine, L.; Reicin, A.; Shapiro, D.; Burgos-Vargas, R.; Davis, B.; Day, R.; Ferraz, M.B.; Hawkey, C.J.; Hochberg, M.C.; et al. 2000. Comparison of upper gastrointestinal toxicity of rofecoxib and naproxen in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. VIGOR Study Group. N.Engl. J.Med. 343,1520–1528.
- Brendorp, B., Elming, H., Jun, L., Kober, L., Malik, M., Jensen, G.B., Torp-Pedersen, C. 2001. The DIAMOND Study Group. QTc interval as a guide to select those patients with congestive heart failure and reduced left ventricular systolic function who will benefit from antiarrhythmic treatment with dofetilide. Circulation; 103, 1422-1427.
- Brendorp, B., Pedersen, O., Torp-Pedersen, C., Sahebzadah, N., Køber, L. 2002. A benefit-risk assessment of class III antiarrhythmic agents. Drug Saf 25(12):847-65. doi: 10.2165/00002018-200225120-00003. PMID: 12241126
- 23. Brenner, G.B., Makkos, A., Nagy, C.T., Onódi, Zs., Sayour, N.V., Gergely, T.G., Kiss, B., Görbe, A., Sághy, É., Zoltán, Z.S., Lázár, B., Baranyai, T., Varga, R.S., Husti, Z., Varró, A., Tóthfalusi, L., Schulz, R., Baczkó, I., Giricz, Z., Ferdinandy, P. 2020. Hidden Cardiotoxicity of Rofecoxib Can be Revealed in Experimental Models of Ischemia/Reperfusion. Cells; 9, 551; doi:10.3390/cells9030551
- 24. Bresalier, R.S.; Sandler, R.S.; Quan, H.; Bolognese, J.A.; Oxenius, B.; Horgan, K.; Lines, C.; Riddell, R.; Morton, D.; Lanas, A.; et al. 2005. Cardiovascular events associated with rofecoxib in a colorectal adenoma chemoprevention trial. N. Engl. J. Med. 352, 1092–1102.
- 25. Brogden, R.N., Todd, P.A. 1987. Disopyramide. A reappraisal of its pharmacodynamic and pharmacokinetic properties, and therapeutic use in cardiac arrhythmias Drugs. 34(2):151-87. doi: 10.2165/00003495-198734020-00001. PMID: 3304965
- Brogden RN, Todd PA. 1987. Encainide. A review of its pharmacological properties and therapeutic efficacy. Drugs; 34(5):519-38. doi: 10.2165/00003495-198734050-00002.
- 27. Bryson, H.M., Palmer, K.J., Langtry, H.D., Fitton, A. 1993. Propafenone. A reappraisal of its pharmacology, pharmacokinetics and therapeutic use in cardiac arrhythmias. Drugs. 45(1):85-130. doi: 10.2165/00003495-199345010-00008. PMID: 7680987
- Buchanan, L.V., Kabell, G., Brunden, M.N. and Gibson, J.K. 1993. Comparative assessement of ibutilide, D-sotalol, clofilium, E-4031, and UK-68,798 in a rabbit model of proarrhythmia. J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol. 22(4): 540-549. PMID: 7505355

- 29. Burashnikov, A.; Antzelevitch, C. 1998. Acceleration-induced action potential prolongation and early afterdepolarizations. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol; 9 (9): 934-48
- Capucci A, Boriani G. 1995. Propafenone in the treatment of cardiac arrhythmias. A risk-benefit appraisal. Drug Saf. 12(1):55-72. doi: 10.2165/00002018-199512010-00005. PMID: 7741984
- 31. Carlsson, L.; Abrahamsson, C.; Andersson B., et al. 1993. Proarrhythmic effects of the class III agent almokalant: importance of infusion rate, QT dispersion, and early afterdepolarisations. Cardiovasc Res; 27 (12): 2186-93
- Chaffman, M., Brogden, R.N. 1985. Drugs; 29(5):387-454. doi: 10.2165/00003495-198529050-00001. PMID: 3891302
- 33. Chao, T.F.; Liu, C.J.; Chen, S.J.; Wang, K.L.; Lin, Y.J.; Chang, S.L.; Lo, L.W.; Hu, Y.F.; Tuan, T.C.; Wu, T.J.; et al. 2013. The association between the use of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and atrial fibrillation: A nationwide case-control study. Int. J. Cardiol. 168, 312–316.
- Chezalviel, F., Weissenburger, J., Guhennec, C., Jagueux, M., Davy, J.M., Vernhet, L., et al. 1993. Antiarrhythmic effect of a sotalol-mexiletine combination on induced ventricular tachycardia in dogs. J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol. 21(2): 212-220. PMID: 7679154
- 35. Chorin E, Taub R, Medina A, Flint N, Viskin S, Benhorin J. 2017. Long-term flecainide therapy in type 3 long QT syndrome. Europace 2017; doi:10.1093/europace/ euw439.
- 36. Clauss, S., Bleyer, C., Schuttler, D., Tomsits, P., Renner, S., Klymiuk, N., Wakili, R., Massberg, S., Wolf, E., Kaab, S. 2019. Animal models of arrhythmia: classic electrophysiology to genetically modified large animals. Nat Rev Cardiol 16: 457-475. doi: 10.1038/s41569-019-0179-0
- 37. Collinsworth, K.A., Kalman, S.M., Harrison, D.C. 1974. The Clinical Pharmacology of Lidocaine as an Antiarrhythymic Drug. Circulation. 50:1217–1230. doi: https://doi.org/10.1161/01.CIR.50.6.1217
- 38. Curtis, M.J., Hancox, J.C., Farkas, A., Wainwright, C.L., Stables, C.L., Saint, D.A., et al. 2013. The Lambeth Conventions (II): guidelines for the study of animal and human ventricular and supraventricular arrhythmias. Pharmacol Ther. **139**(2): 213-248. doi: 10.1016/j.pharmthera.2013.04.008. PMID: 23588158
- 39. Dan, G.A.; Martinez-Rubio, A.; Agewall, S.; Boriani, G.; Borggrefe, M.; Gaita, F.; van Gelder, I.; Gorenek, B.; Kaski, J.C.; Kjeldsen, K.; Lip, G.; Merkely, B.; Okumura,

K.; Jonathan, J.P.; Potpara, T.; Klindt, P.B.; Saba, M.; Savelieva, I.; Tamargo, J.L.; and Christian, C. 2018. Antiarrhythmic drugs–clinical use and clinical decision making: a consensus document from the European Heart Rhythm Association (EHRA) and European Society of Cardiology (ESC) Working Group on Cardiovascular Pharmacology, endorsed by the Heart Rhythm Soci. EP Eur. 20, 731–732an.

- 40. DiFrancesco, D. 1995. The pacemaker current (If) plays an important role in regulating SA node pacemaker activity. Cardiovasc Res. 30, 307–308.
- 41. Drici, M.D., Barhanin, J. 2005. Cardiac K+ channels and drug-acquired long QT syndrome. Therapie. 55, 185-193.
- 42. Drouin, E.; Charpentier, F.; Gauthier, C; et al. 1995. Electrophysiologic characteristics of cells spanning the left ventricular wall of human heart: evidence for presence of M cells. J Am Coll Cardiol; 26 (1): 185-92
- 43. Ellenbogen, K.A.; Wood, M.A.; Stambler, B.S. 1193. Procainamide: a perspective on its value and danger. Heart Dis Stroke. 2(6):473-6. PMID: 8137053
- 44. el Sherif, N.; Caref, E.B.; Yin, H.; et al. 1996. The electrophysiological mechanism of ventricular arrhythmias in the long QT syndrome: tridimensional mapping of activation and recovery patterns. Circ Res; 79 (3): 474-92
- 45. Faunce, T., Townsend, R., McEwan, A. 2010. The Vioxx pharmaceutical scandal: Peterson v Merke Sharpe & Dohme (Aust) Pty Ltd 184 FCR 1. J Law Med; 18:38–49
- 46. Ferdinandy, P.; Baczko, I.; Bencsik, P.; Giricz, Z.; Gorbe, A.; Pacher, P.; Varga, Z.V.; Varro, A.; Schulz, R. 2019. Definition of hidden drug cardiotoxicity: Paradigm change in cardiac safety testing and its clinical implications. Eur. Heart J. 40, 1771–1777. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehy365.
- 47. Freeman, L.C., Ack, J.A., Fligner, M.A., and Muir, W.W.3rd. 1990. Atrial fibrillation in halothane- and isoflurane-anesthetized dogs. Am. J. Vet. Res. 51(1): 174–177. PMID: 2301817
- 48. Freedman M.D., Somberg J.C. 1991. Pharmacology and pharmacokinetics of amiodarone. J Clin Pharmacol; 31(11):1061-9. doi: 10.1002/j.1552-4604.1991.tb03673.x. PMID: 1753010
- 49. Friedman, D.J., Pokorney, S.D., Ghanem, A., Marcello, S., Kalsekar, I., Yadalam S., et al. 2020. Predictors of Cardiac Perforation With Catheter Ablation of Atrial Fibrillation. JACC Clin. Electrophysiol. 6(6): 636-645. doi: 10.1016/j.jacep.2020.01.011. PMID: 32553212
- 50. Frommeyer, G., Sterneberg, M., Dechering, D. G., Ellermann, C., Bogeholz, N., Kochhauser, S., et al. 2017. Effective suppression of atrial fibrillation by ivabradine:

Novel target for an established drug? International Journal of Cardiology, 236, 237–243. DOI: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2017.02.055 PMID: 28262346

- Gadsby, D.C. 1985. Influence of Na/K pump current on action potentials in Purkinje fibers. Adv Myocardiol 5: 279-294, doi: 10.1007/978-1-4757-1287-2_22
- 52. Gao, J., Wang, W., Cohen, I.S., Mathias, R.T. Transmural gradients in Na/K pump activity and [Na⁺]I in canine ventricle. Biophys J 89: 1700-1709, 2005. doi: 10.1529/biophysj.105.062406
- 53. Gintant G.A., Limberis J.T., McDermott J.S., Wegner C.D., Cox B.F. The canine Purkinje fiber: an in vitro model system for acquired long QT syndrome and druginduced arrhythmogenesis. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol. 2001; 37, 607-618
- 54. Gjesdal 2008. [Amiodarone--still a useful antiarrhythmic drug] Tidsskr Nor Laegeforen; 128(13):1532-3. PMID: 18587462
- 55. Gordon, M. 1999. Dofetilide medical review. Available at: http://www.accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda_docs/nda/99/20-931_Tikosyn.cfm. Accessed December 15, 2015.
- 56. Gottlieb, S.S., Cines, M. and Marshall, J. 1997. Torsades de pointes with administration of high-dose intravenous d-sotalol to a patient with congestive heart failure. Pharmacotherapy **17**(4): 830-831. PMID: 9250567
- 57. Grant, A.O. 2009. Cardiac ion channels. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol; 2(2):185–94.
- 58. Guideline on Repeated Dose Toxicity Corr—WC500079536.pdf. Available online: http://www.ema.europa.eu/docs/en_GB/document_library/Scientific_guideline/2010/0 3/WC500079536.pdf (accessed on10 December 2019).
- 59. Halpin, R.A.; Geer, L.A.; Zhang, K.E.; Marks, T.M.; Dean, D.C.; Jones, A.N.; Melillo, D.; Doss, G.; Vyas, K.P. The absorption, distribution, metabolism and excretion of rofecoxib, a potent and selective cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitor, in rats and dogs. Drug Metab. Dispos. Biol. Fate Chem. 2000, 28, 1244–1254.
- Hézső, T., Naveed, M., Dienes, C., Kiss, D., Prorok, J., Árpádffy-Lovas, T., Varga, R., Fujii, E., Mercan, T., Topal, L., Kistamás, K., Szentandrássy, N., Almássy, J., Jost, N., Magyar, J., Bányász, T., Baczkó, I., Varró, A., Nánási, P.P., Virág, L., Horváth, B. 2021. Mexiletine-like cellular electrophysiological effects of GS967 in canine ventricular myocardium. Sci Rep; 11(1):9565. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-88903-3.
- 61. Hilleman, D., Miller, M.A., Parker, R., Doering, P., and Pieper, J.A., 1998. Optimal management of amiodarone therapy: efficacy and side effects. Pharmacotherapy 18(6 Pt 2): 138S–145S. PMID: 9855346

- 62. Hinterseer, M., Thomsen, M.B., Beckmann, B.M., Pfeufer, A., Schimpf, R., Wichmann, H.E., Steinbeck, S., Vos, M.A., Kaab, S. 2008. Beat-to-beat variability of QT intervals is increased in patients with drug-induced long-QT syndrome: a case control pilot study. Eur Heart J; 29(2):185-90. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehm586.
- 63. Hinterseer, M., Beckmann, B.M., Thomsen, B., Pfeufer, A., Pozza, R.D., Loeff, M., Netz, H., Steinbeck, G., Vos, M.A., Kääb, S. 2009. Relation of increased short-term variability of QT interval to congenital long-QT syndrome. Am J Cardiol; 103(9):1244-8. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2009.01.011.
- 64. Hinterseer, M., Beckmann, B.M., Thomsen, M.B., Pfeufer, A., Ulbrich, M., Sinner, M,F., Perz, S., Wichmann, H.E., Lengyel, C., Schimpf, R., Maier Sebastian, K.G., Varró, A., Vos, M.A., Steinbeck, G., Kääb, S. 2010. Usefulness of short-term variability of QT intervals as a predictor for electrical remodeling and proarrhythmia in patients with nonischemic heart failure. The American Journal of Cardiology, 106(2):216-220. DOI: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2010.02.033
- 65. Hoffman, B.F., Cranefield, P.F. Electrophysiology of the Heart. New York: McGraw-Hill, 1960, p
- 66. Hohneck, A.L., Fries, P., Stroeder, J., Schneider, G., Schirmer, S.H., Reil, J.C., Böhm, M., Laufs, U., Custodis, F. 2021. Effects of selective heart rate reduction with ivabradine on LV function and central hemodynamics in patients with chronic coronary syndrome. Int J Cardiol Heart Vasc. 23;34:100757. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcha.2021.100757.
- 67. Hohnloser, S.H., Klingenheben, T., and Singh, B.N., 1994. Amiodarone-associated proarrhythmic effects. A review with special reference to torsade de pointes tachycardia. Ann. Intern. Med. **121**(7): 529–535. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-121-7-199410010-00009. PMID: 8067651
- 68. Hohnloser, S.H., Woosley, R.L. 1994. Sotalol. New Engl J Med. 331, 31-38
- 69. Hondeghem L.M., Snyders D.J. 1990. Class III antiarrhythmic agents have a lot of potential but a long way to go. Reduced effectiveness and dangers of reverse use dependence. Circulation. 81, 686-690.
- 70. International Conference on Harmonisation. Guidance on M3 (R2) Nonclinical Safety Studies for the Conduct of Human Clinical Trials and Marketing Authorization for Pharmaceuticals; availability. Notice. Fed. Regist. 2010, 75, 3471–3472

- 71. International Conference on Harmonisation. Guidance on E14 Clinical Evaluation of QT/QTc Interval Prolongation and Proarrhythmic Potential for Non-Antiarrhythmic Drugs; availability. Notice. Fed. Regist. 2005, 70, 61134–61135.
- 72. International Conference on Harmonisation. Guidance on S7B Nonclinical Evaluation of the Potential for Delayed Ventricular Repolarization (QT Interval Prolongation) by Human Pharmaceuticals; availability. Notice. Fed. Regist. 2005, 70, 61133–61134.
- Janse, M.J.; Wit, A.L. Electrophysiological mechanisms of ventricular arrhythmias resulting from myocardial ischemia and infarction. Physiol. Rev. 1989, 69, 1049– 1169.
- 74. Jost, N., Virag, L., Bitay, M., Takacs, J., Lengyel, C., Biliczki, P., Nagy, Z., Bogáts, G., Lathrop, D,A., Papp J,G., Varro A. 2005. Restricting excessive cardiac action potential and QT prolongation: a vital role for IKs in human ventricular muscle. Circulation. 112(10), 1392-9.
- 75. Jost, N. 2009. Transmembrane ionic currents underlying cardiac action potential in mammalian hearts. Advances in Cardiomyocyte Research, ISBN: 978-81-7895-418-9
- 76. Jost, N., Nagy, N., Corici, C., Kohajda, Z., Horváth, A., Acsai, K., et al. 2013. ORM-10103, a novel specific inhibitor of the sodium/calcium exchanger, decreases early and delayed afterdepolarization in the canine heart. Br. J. Pharmacol. **170**(4): 768-778. doi:10.1111/bph.12228. PMID: 23647096
- 77. Juhász, V., Hornyik, T., Benák, A., Nagy, N., Husti, Z., Pap, R., et al. 2018. Comparison of the effects of I_{K,ACh}, I_{Kr}, and I_{Na} block in conscious dogs with atrial fibrillation and on action potentials in remodeled atrial trabeculae. Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol. **96**(1): 18-25. doi: 10.1139/cjpp-2017-0342. PMID: 28892643
- 78. Jukić, T., Punda, M., Franceschi, M., Staniĉić, J., Granić, R., Kusić, Z. 2015. [AMIODARONE AND THE THYROID FUNCTION] Lijec Vjesn; 137(5-6):181-8. PMID: 26380478
- 79. Juni, P.; Nartey, L.; Reichenbach, S.; Sterchi, R.; Dieppe, P.A.; Egger, M. 2004. Risk of cardiovascular events and rofecoxib: Cumulative meta-analysis. Lancet 364, 2021–2029.
- Kannel, W.B., Abbott, R.D., Savage, D.D. and McNamara, P.M. 1982. Epidemiologic features of chronic atrial fibrillation: the Framingham study. N. Engl. J. Med. 306(17): 1018–1022. doi:10.1056/NEJM198204293061703. PMID: 7062992
- Kirchhof, P., Benussi, S., Kotecha, D., Ahlsson, A., Atar, D., Casadei, B., et al. 2016.
 2016 ESC Guidelines for the management of atrial fibrillation developed in

collaboration with EACTS. Eur. Heart J. **37**(38): 2893–2962. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehw210. PMID: 27567408

- 82. Kleber, A.G.; Janse, M.J.; Wilms-Schopmann, F.J.; Wilde, A.A.; Coronel, R. Changes in conduction velocity during acute ischemia in ventricular myocardium of the isolated porcine heart. Circulation 1986, 73, 189–198.
- 83. Kohajda, Z., Farkas-Morvay, N., Jost, N., Nagy, N., Geramipour, A., Horváth, A., et al. 2016. The effect of a novel highly selective inhibitor of the sodium/calcium exchanger (NCX) on cardiac arrhythmias in *in vitro* and *in vivo* experiments. PLoS One. **11**(11):e0166041. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0166041. PMID: 27832106
- 84. Kohli, U.; Aziz, Z.; Beaser; A.D.; Nayak, H.M. 2020. Ventricular arrhythmia suppression with ivabradine in a patient with catecholaminergic polymorphic ventricular tachycardia refractory to nadolol, flecainide, and sympathectomy. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol; 43(5):527-533. doi: 10.1111/pace.13913. Epub 2020 May 2. PMID: 32259298
- Koster, R.W.; Dunning, A.J. 1985. Intramuscular lidocaine for prevention of lethal arrhythmias in the prehospitalization phase of acute myocardial infarction. N Engl J Med 313:1105-10.
- 86. Krikler, D.M. 1986. Verapamil in arrhythmia. Br J Clin Pharmacol;21 Suppl 2(Suppl 2):183S-189S. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2125.1986.tb02869.x. PMID: 3530300
- 87. Kuhn, M. 1981. Verapamil in the treatment of PSVT. Ann Emerg Med 1981;10(10):538-44. doi: 10.1016/s0196-0644(81)80013-3. PMID: 7025710
- Kühlkamp, V.; Bosch, R.; Mewis, C.; Seipel, L. 2002. Use of β-Blockers in Atrial Fibrillation. Am J Cardiovasc Drugs 2(1):37-42. doi: 10.2165/00129784-200202010-00005. PMID: 14727997
- 89. Larned, J.M. and Laskar S.R. 2009. Atrial fibrillation and heart failure. Cong. Heart Fail. 15(1): 24–30. doi: 10.1111/j.1751-7133.2008.00041.x. PMID: 19187404
- Larsen, A.; Lish, P. 1964. A new bio-isostere: alkylsulphonamidophenethanolamines. Nature; 203:1283–4.
- 91. Lee, J.H. 1996. The Na/K pump, resting potential and selective permeability in canine Purkinje fibres at physiologic and room temperatures. Experientia 52: 657-660. doi: 10.1007/bf01925568
- 92. Lengyel, C., Varró, A., Tábori, K., Papp, J.G, Baczkó, I. 2007. Combined pharmacological block of I(Kr) and I(Ks) increases short-term QT interval variability

and provokes torsades de pointes. Br J Pharmacol; 151(7):941-51. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjp.0707297.

- 93. Lip, G.Y. 2011. Stroke in atrial fibrillation: epidemiology and thromboprophylaxis. J. Thromb. Haemost. 9(Suppl. 1): 344–351. doi: 10.1111/j.1538-7836.2011.04302.x. PMID: 21781271
- 94. Luderitz, B., Mletzko, R., Jung, W., Manz, M. 1991. Combination of antiarrhythmic drugs. J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol. 17(Suppl.6): S48-S52. PMID: 1723119
- 95. Madonna, R.; Cadeddu, C.; Deidda, M.; Mele, D.; Monte, I.; Novo, G.; Pagliaro, P.; Pepe, A.; Spallarossa, P.; Tocchetti, C.G.; et al. 2015. Improving the preclinical models for the study of chemotherapy-induced cardiotoxicity: A Position Paper of the Italian Working Group on Drug Cardiotoxicity and Cardioprotection. Heart Fail. Rev. 20, 621–631.
- 96. Major, P., Baczkó, I., Hiripi, L., Odening, K.E., Juhász, V., Kohajda, Z., et al. 2016. A novel transgenic rabbit model with reduced repolarization reserve: long QT syndrome caused by a dominant-negative mutation of the KCNE1 gene. Br. J. Pharmacol. 173(12):2046-2061. doi: 10.1111/bph.13500. PMID: 27076034
- 97. Manolism, A.S., Deering, T.F., Cameron, J., Mark Estes, N.A. 1990. Mexiletine: Pharmacology and Therapeutic Use. Clin. Cardiol. 13, 349-359
- 98. Markham, A., Brogden, R.N. 1993. Diltiazem. A review of its pharmacology and therapeutic use in older patients. Drugs Aging; 3(4):363-90. doi: 10.2165/00002512-199303040-00007.
- 99. Mayer, T.V. Merck's Careful Study of Vioxx. 2008. Am J Cardiol; 101:1068–1069; author reply 1069.
- Morillo, C.A., Klein, G.J., Jones, D.L., and Guiraudon, C.M. 1995. Chronic rapid atrial pacing: structural, functional, and electrophysiological characteristics of a new model of sustained atrial fibrillation. Circulation 91(5): 1588–1595. doi:10.1161/01.CIR.91.5.1588. PMID: 7867201
- Mounsey, J.P., DiMarco, J. Cardiovascular drugs Dofetilide. 2000. Circulation; 102:2665–70
- Mujović, N., Dobrev, D., Marinković, M., Russo, V. and Potpara, T.S. 2020.
 The role of amiodarone in contemporary management of complex cardiac arrhythmias.
 Pharmacol. Res. 151: 104521. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2019.104521. PMID: 31756386
- Mullard, A. 2018. FDA reconsiders cardiovascular outcomes trials for diabetes drugs, 10 years on. Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. 17, 850–851.

- 104. Nair L.A., Grant A.O. 1997. Emerging class III antiarrhythmic agents: mechanism of action and proarrhythmic potential. Cardiovasc Drugs Ther;11(2):149-67. doi: 10.1023/a:1007784814823. PMID: 9140692
- 105. Nattel, S., Singh, B.N. 1999. Evolution, mechanisms, and classification of antiarrhythmic drugs: focus on class III actions. Am J Cardiol. 84, 11R–19R
- 106. Norhayati, M.N; Bahari, I.S.; Zaharah, S.; Hazlina, N.H.N.; Aimanazrul, Z.M.; Irfan, M. 2020. Metoprolol for prophylaxis of postoperative atrial fibrillation in cardiac surgery patients: systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ Open 31;10(10):e038364. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2020-038364.
- 107. Onakpoya, I..J.; Heneghan, C.J.; Aronson, J.K. 2016. Post-marketing withdrawal of 462 medicinal products because of adverse drug reactions: A systematic review of the world literature. BMC Med. 14, 10.
- 108. Page, R.L.; O'Bryant, C.L.; Cheng, D.; Dow, T.J.; Ky, B.; Stein, C.M.; Spencer, A.P.; Trupp, R.J.; Lindenfeld, J. 2016. Drugs That May Cause or Exacerbate Heart Failure: A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association. Circulation 134, e32–e69.
- Paolini, E.; Stronati, G.; Guerra, F.; Capucci, A. 2019. Flecainide: Electrophysiological properties, clinical indications, and practical aspects. Pharmacol Res; 148:104443. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2019.104443. PMID: 31493514
- Papp, J. Gy., Németh, M., Krassói, I., Mester, L., Hála, O., and Varró, A. 1996.
 Differential electrophysiologic effects of chronically administered amiodarone on canine Purkinje fibers versus ventricular muscle. J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol. Therapeut. 1(4), 287-296. doi: 10.1177/107424849600100404. PMID: 10684429
- Paul, E.; Fenster, K.; Comess, A. 1986. Pharmacology and Clinical Use of Mexiletine. Pharmacotherapy; 6(1):1-9.doi: 10.1002/j.1875-9114.1986.tb03442.x. PMID: 3513138
- 112. Pedersen, O.D., Bagger, H., Keller, N., Marchant, B., Køber, L., and Torp-Pedersen, C. (2001). Efficacy of dofetilide in the treatment of atrial fibrillation-flutter in patients with reduced left ventricular function: a Danish investigations of arrhythmia and mortality on dofetilide (DIAMOND) substudy. Circulation 104(3): 292–296. doi:10.1161/01.CIR.104.3.292. PMID: 11457747
- 113. Piccini, J.P., and Fauchier, L. 2016. Rhythm control in atrial fibrillation. Lancet
 388(10046): 829–840. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(16)31277-6. PMID: 27560278
- 114. Pinney S.P., Koller B.S., Frany M.R., Woosley R.L. Terfenadine increases the QT interval in isolated guinea pig heart. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol. 1995; 25, 30-40.
- Pontes, H.; Clement, M.; Rollason, V. Safety signal detection: The relevance of literature review. DrugSaf. 2014, 37, 471–479.

- 116. Pritchett, E.L.C., Wilkinson, W.E. 1999. Effect of dofetilide on survival in patients with supraventricular arrhythmias. Am Heart; 138(5):994–7.
- Priori, S.G.; Blomstro⁻m-Lundqvist, C.; Mazzanti, A.; Blom, N.; Borggrefe, M.; Camm, J. 2015 ESC Guidelines for the management of patients with ventricular arrhythmias and the prevention of sudden cardiac death. Europace 2015;17:1601–87.
- Rampe, D.; Murawsky, M.K. 1997. Blockade of the human cardiac K+ channel Kv1.5 by the antibiotic erythromycin. Naunyn-Schmiedebergs Archiv Pharmacol.; 355, 743- 750.
- Ray, W.A; Stein, C.M.; Daugherty, J.R.; Hall, K.; Arbogast, P.G.; Griffin, M.R.2002. COX-2 selective non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and risk of serious coronary heart disease. Lancet; 360(9339):1071-3. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(02)11131-7.
- 120. Roden D.M. 1998. Taking the "idio" out of "idiosyncratic": predicting torsades de pointes. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol. 21(5), 1029-34.
- 121. Roden, D.M.; Hoffman, B.F. 1985 Action potential prolongation and induction of abnormal automaticity by low quinidine concentrations in canine Purkinje fibers: relationship to potassium and cycle length. Circ Res; 56 (6): 857-67
- 122. Rosen, Michael R; Hoffman, Brian F; Wit, Andrew L. 1975. Electrophysiology and pharmacology of cardiac arrhythmias. V. Cardiac antiarrhythmic effects of lidocaine. Am Heart J; 89(4):526-36. doi: 10.1016/0002-8703(75)90162-3.
- Salinas, G.; Rangasetty, U.C.; Uretsky, B.F.; Birnbaum, Y. The cycloxygenase
 2 (COX-2) story: It's time to explain, not inflame. J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol. Ther.
 2007, 12, 98–111.
- 124. Schwartz, P.J. 1995. What Have We Learned from the SWORD Trial? Can Potassium Channel Blockers Reduce Sudden Cardiac Death? Cardiac Arrhythmias pp 39-42.
- 125. Serdoz, L.V., Rittger, H., Furlanello, F., Bastian, D. 2019. Quinidine-A legacy within the modern era of antiarrhythmic therapy. Pharmacol Res. 144:257-263. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2019.04.028.
- 126. Shawm, R.M.; Rudym, Y. 1997. Electrophysiologic effects of acute myocardial ischemia: a theoretical study of altered cell excitability and action potential duration. Cardiovasc Res 35: 256-272. doi: 10.1016/s0008-6363(97)00093-x

- 127. Shenasa, F., and Shenasa M. 2016. Dofetilide: Electrophysiologic Effect, Efficacy, and Safety in Patients with Cardiac Arrhythmias. Card Electrophysiol Clin DOI:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccep.2016.02.006
- 128. Shimizu, W., and Antzelevitch, C., 1997. Na+ channel block with mexiletine is effective in reducing dispersion of repolarization and preventing torsade des pointes in LQT2 and LQT3 models of the long-QT syndrome. Circulation **96**(6): 2038–2047. doi: 10.1161/01.cir.96.6.2038. PMID: 9323097
- 129. Shomanova, Z., Ohnewein, B., Schernthaner, C., Höfer, K., Pogoda, C.A., Frommeyer, G., et al. 2020. Classic and Novel Biomarkers as Potential Predictors of Ventricular Arrhythmias and Sudden Cardiac Death. J. Clin. Med. 9(2): 578. doi: 10.3390/jcm9020578. PMID: 32093244
- Sicouri, S., Antzelevitch, D., Heilmann, C. and Antzelevitch, C. 1997. Effects of sodium channel block with mexiletine to reverse action potential prolongation in in vitro models of the long term QT syndrome. J. Cardiovasc. Electrophysiol. 8(11): 1280-1290. doi: 10.1111/j.1540-8167.1997.tb01019.x. PMID: 9395171
- 131. Singh, B.N.; Vaughan Williams, E.M. A third class of anti-arrhythmic action. Effect on atrial and ventricular intracellular potentials, and other pharmacological actions on cardiac muscle, of MJ 1999 and AH 3474. Br J Pharmacol. 1970; 39, 675-687.
- 132. Singh B.N. A fourth class of anti-dysrhythmic action? Effect of verapamil on ouabain toxicity, on atrial and ventricular intracellular potentials, and on other features of cardiac function. Cardiovasc Res. 1972; 6, 109-119.
- 133. Sloskey, G.E. 1983. Amiodarone: a unique antiarrhythmic agent. Clin Pharm;2(4):330-40. PMID: 6349912
- Sung, R.J.; Blanski, L.; Kirshenbaum, J; MacCosbe, P; Turlapaty, P.; Laddu,
 A.R. 1986. Clinical experience with esmolol, a short-acting beta-adrenergic blocker in cardiac arrhythmias and myocardial ischemia. J Clin Pharmacol 26(S1):A15-A26.
 DOI: 10.1002/j.1552-4604.1986.tb02983.x PMID: 2870082
- Surawicz, B. 1989. Electrophysiologic substrate of torsade de pointes: dispersion of repolarization or early afterdepolarizations? J Am Coll Cardiol; 14 (1): 172-84
- 136. Stroobandt, R.; Brachmann, J.; Kesteloot, H.; Kübler, W.; Senges, J. 1986. Effect of sotalol, aprindine and the combination aprindine-sotalol on monophasic action potential duration. Eur Heart J.; 7(1):47-53.

- 137. Swedberg, K.; Komajda, M.; Böhm, M., Borer, J.F.; Ford, I.; Dubost-Brama,
 A.; Guy, A.; Tavazzi, L. 2010. Ivabradine and outcomes in chronic heart failure (SHIFT): a randomised placebo-controlled study. Lancet; 376: 875–85. DOI:10.1016/S0140-6736(10)61198-1
- Taggart, P., Sutton, P., Donaldson, R. 1985. Clin Sci (Lond) (5):631-6. doi: 10.1042/cs0690631.
- Takigawa, M., Takahashi, A., Kuwahara, T., Okubo, K., Takahashi, Y., Watari,
 Y., et al. 2017. Long-term outcome after catheter ablation of paroxysmal atrial fibrillation: Impact of different atrial fibrillation foci. Int. J. Cardiol. 227: 407-412. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2016.11.028. PMID: 27838128
- Taylor, E.H., Pappas, A.A. 1986. Disopyramide: clinical indications, pharmacokinetics and laboratory assessment. Ann Clin Lab Sci. 16(4):289-95. PMID: 2427003
- 142. The Cardiac Arrhythmia Suppression (CAST) Investigators. 1989. Preliminary report. Effect of encainide and flecainide on mortality in a randomized trial of arrhythmia suppression after myocardial infarction. N. Engl. J. Med. **321**(6):406-412. doi: 10.1056/NEJM19890810321062. PMID: 2473403
- 143. Thomsen, M.B., Verduyn, SC., Stengl, M., Beekman, J.D.M., de Pater, G., van Opstal, J., et al. 2004. Increased short-term variability of repolarization predicts Dsotalol-induced torsades de pointes in dogs. Circulation 110(16): 2453-2459. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000145162.64183.C8. PMID: 15477402
- 144. Thomsen, M.B., Volders, P.G.A., Beekman Jet, D.M., Beekman, Matz J., Marc, A.Vos. 2006. Beat-to-Beat Variability of Repolarization Determines Proarrhythmic Outcome in Dogs Susceptible to Drug-Induced Torsades de Pointes. JACC Vol. 48, No. 6:1268–76
- 145. Tordjman, T.; Estes, N.A. 1987. Encainide: its electrophysiologic and antiarrhythmic effects, pharmacokinetics, and safety. Pharmacotherapy;7(5):149-63. doi: 10.1002/j.1875-9114.1987.tb04042.x.
- 146. Valentine, P.A.; Frew, J.L.; Mashford, M.L.; Sloman, J.G. 1974. Lidocaine in the prevention of sudden death in the pre-hospital phase of acute infarction. N Engl J Med 291:1327-31

- 147. Varga, R.S., Hornyik, T., Husti, Z., Kohajda, Z., Krajsovszky, G., Nagy, N., Jost, N., Virág, L., Tálosi, L., Mátyus, P., Varró, A., Baczkó, I. 2021. Antiarrhythmic and cardiac electrophysiological effects of SZV-270, a novel compound with combined Class I/B and Class III effects, in rabbits and dogs. Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol. 99:89–101. dx.doi.org/10.1139/cjpp-2020-0412
- 148. Varro, A., Balati, B., Iost, N., Takacs, J., Virag, L., Lathrop, D.A., Csaba, L., Tálosi, L.; Papp, J.G. 2000. The role of the delayed rectifier component IKs in dog ventricular muscle and Purkinje fibre repolarization. J Physiol. 523 Pt 1, 67-81
- 149. Verduyn, S.C.; Vos, M.A., van der Zande, J.; Kulcsar, A.; and Wellens, H.J.;
 1997. Further observations to elucidate the role of interventricular dispersion of repolarization and early afterdepolarizations in the genesis of acquired torsade de pointes arrhythmias: a comparison between almokalant and D-sotalol using the dog as its own control. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. **30**(6): 1575–1584. doi: 10.1016/s0735-1097(97)00333-1.
- Verrier, R. L.; Bonatti, R.; Silva, A. F.; Batatinha, J. A.; Nearing, B. D.; Liu, G.; et al. 2014. If inhibition in the atrioventricular node by ivabradine causes rate-dependent slowing of conduction and reduces ventricular rate during atrial fibrillation. Heart Rhythm, 11, 2288–2296. doi: 10.1016/j.hrthm.2014.08.007. PMID: 25111327
- Verrier, R. L.; Silva, A. F.; Bonatti, R.; Batatinha, J. A.; Nearing, B. D.; Liu, G.; et al. 2015. Combined actions of ivabradine and ranolazine reduce ventricular rate during atrial fibrillation. Journal of Cardiovascular Electrophysiology, 26, 329–335. DOI: 10.1111/jce.12569 PMID: 25346368
- 152. Viswanathan, P.C., Rudy, Y. 1999. Pause induced early afterdepolarizations in the long QT syndrome: a simulation study. Cardiovasc Res; 42 (2): 530-42
- 153. Vos, M.A., Verduyn, S.C., Gorgels, A.P., Lipcsei, G.C., and Wellens, H.J. 1995. Reproducible induction of early afterdepolarizations and torsade de pointes arrhythmias by d-sotalol and pacing in dogs with chronic atrioventricular block. Circulation **91**(3): 864-872. doi: 10.1161/01.cir.91.3.864. PMID: 7828315
- Waldo, A.L., Camm, A.J., deRuyter, H., Friedman, P.L., MacNeil, D.J., Pauls, J.F., et al. 1996. Effect of D-sotalol on mortality in patients with left ventricular dysfunction after recent and remote myocardial infarction. The SWORD investigators. Survival with oral D-sotalol. Lancet 348(9019): 7–12. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(96)02149-6. PMID: 8691967

- 155. Weirich, J.; Antoni, H. 1998. Rate-dependence of antiarrhythmic and proarrhythmic properties of class I and class III antiarrhythmic drugs. Basic Res Cardiol; 93 Suppl 1:125-32. doi: 10.1007/s003950050236. PMID: 9833140
- Wolkove, N.; Baltzan, M. 2009. Amiodarone pulmonary toxicity. Can respir J 2009;16(2):43-48. doi: https://doi.org/10.1155/2009/282540
- 157. Woosley, R.L.; Kornhauser, D.; Smith, R.; Reele, S.; Higgins, S.B.; Nies, A.S.;
 Shand, D.G.; Oates, J.A. 1979. Circulation 60(4):819-27. doi: 10.1161/01.cir.60.4.819.
 PMID: 476887
- Woosley, R.L.; Wang, T.W.; Stone, W.; Siddoway, L.K.; Thompson, K.; Duff, H.J.; Cerskus, I.; Roden, D.M. 1984. Pharmacology, electrophysiology, and pharmacokinetics of mexiletine. Am Heart J. 107(5 Pt 2):1058-65. doi: 10.1016/0002-8703(84)90175-3. PMID: 6326558
- 159. Yan, G.X.; Antzelevitch, C. 1998. Cellular basis for the normal T wave and the electrocardiographic manifestations of the long-QT syndrome. Circulation; 98 (18): 1928-36
- 160. Yancy, C.W.; Jessup, M.; Bozkurt, B.; Butler, J.; Casey, D.E., Jr.; Drazner, M.H.; Fonarow, G.C.; Geraci, S.A.; Horwich, T.; Januzzi, J.L.; et al. 2013 ACCF/AHA guideline for the management of heart failure: Executive summary: A report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation/American Heart Association Task Force on practice guidelines. Circulation 2013, 128, 1810–1852.
- Zehender, M.; Kasper, W.; Just, H. 1990. Lidocaine in the Early Phase of Acute Myocardial Infarction: The Controversy Over Prophylactic or Selective Use. Clin Cardiol (8):534-9. doi: 10.1002/clc.4960130805.
- 162. Zhang, J.; Ding, E.L.; Song, Y. Adverse effects of cyclooxygenase 2 inhibitors on renal and arrhythmia events: Meta-analysis of randomized trials. JAMA 2006, 296, 1619–1632.
- Zipes, D.P.; Prystowsky E.N.; Heger, J.J. 1984. Amiodarone: electrophysiologic actions, pharmacokinetics and clinical effects. J Am Coll Cardiol; 3(4):1059-71. doi: 10.1016/s0735-1097(84)80367-8. PMID: 6368644
- Zipes, D.P.; Jalife, J. 2014. Cardiac Electrophysiology From Cell to Bedside. ISBN: 978-1-4557-2856-5